
TARC BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

Meeting Notice: 

Pursuant to KRS 96.A, the TARC Board of Directors is to meet monthly. The next meeting will be held 
at: 

 
TARC’s Headquarters, Board Room 
1000 W. Broadway, Louisville, KY  40203  
 
Tuesday, September 26, 2023 at 1:30 p.m.  

This meeting is also being held via teleconference as permitted by KRS 61.826. Pursuant to KRS 
61.810, the Board of Directors may enter into Closed Session, but shall not take any action in a 
Closed Session.   

Members of the public and/or TARC staff may watch a livestream of the meeting by going to 
www.facebook.com/ridetarc; the livestream will be at the top of the page; No Facebook account is 
needed. Public comments may be submitted in the chat feature, please include your name in the 
chat.  

Pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons with a disability may request a reasonable 
accommodation for assistance with the meeting or meeting materials. Please contact Stephanie 
Isaacs at 502.561.5103. Requests made as early as possible will allow time to arrange 
accommodation.

http://www.facebook.com/ridetarc


TARC BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

Agenda – September 26, 2023 

I. Quorum Call/Call to Order Ted Smith             1:30 

a. Approval of August Meetings Minutes Board of Directors 1:35 – 1:40 

II. Action Items 1:40 – 2:10 
a. Tonya Carter 

b. Chris Ward 

Resolution 2023 – 23
TARC Audited Financial Statements for Fiscal Year 2023 
Presentation from Crowe, LLC., Scott Nickerson 
Resolution 2023 – 24
Award of Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals 
with Disabilities Section 5310 Program Funds

III. Presentations and Staff Reports 2:10 – 2:25 
a. Monthly Performance Report Rob Stephens 
b. Financial Statements July 2023 - FY 2024 Tonya Carter 

IV. Old Business 2:25 - 2:45 
a. Update on Advertising Policy Pat Mulvihill 

V. New Business

VI. Chair’s Report and Subcommittee Reports Ted Smith 2:45 – 2:55 

VII. Public Comment Pat Mulvihill 2:55 – 3:10 

VIII. Proposed Agenda / Procurements  Carrie Butler 3:10 - 3:15 
a. Bus Shelter Cleaning and Repair Services
b. Vehicle Filter Supplies
c. Digital Route Display Sign Repair and Rehabilitation
d. Professional Legal Services
e. Facility Wide Building Maintenance and Construction
f. Expressions of Interest for Cutaway Paratransit Vehicles and Modified Vans

IX. Adjournment 3:30 



TARC BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

August 22, 2023 Board Meeting Minutes 

The Board of Directors of Transit Authority of River City (TARC) met on August 22, 2023 at 1:30 p.m. in person 
at TARC, 1000 W. Broadway in the Board Room and virtually via teleconference as permitted by KRS 
61.826. 

Board Members Present 

In Person  Virtual  
Ted Smith   Michael Schnuerle 
Jan Day  Bonita Black    
Steve Miller    
Tawanda Owsley 

Meeting Called to Order   

Ted Smith called meeting to order at 1:35 p.m. 

Quorum Call – July Meeting Minutes Approved. 

Public Comments 

Pat Mulvihill read the Public Comment Preamble: “The TARC Board values hearing from its customers, TARC 
employees and public at large.  This Board will not respond in this meeting to any comments made at this time. 
However, TARC will post a response on TARC’s website regarding the comments made by the following meeting. 
In addition, the TARC Board may assign the feedback or comments to be further examined by its subcommittees 
and, if warranted, further addressed by TARC.”  July Public Comments and responses are posted on our website. 
Ahead of the meeting here is a comment we’ve received. With the comment section coming so early in the 
meeting, I’ll share any others we receive during the live stream after the meeting.  

Steven Peters: 

I sincerely hope you have it on the agenda to address the absolute mess you've made out of the 10 and 18 
lines on Dixie Highway. The routes were fine before, now you have drivers flying past marked stops and 
leaving people standing, while drivers are constantly getting complaints from on-board passengers. I've 
personally had 3 separate drivers that were oblivious to the #10 stop at Heaton, and today I had one roll her 
eyes at me for asking "isn't that my stop?", after she failed to even attempt to make the lane change for the 
requested stop. Angry customers, Kentucky heat, and people late for jobs and appointments is a bad recipe all 
around. You say our rides are your priority ... doesn't seem like it.  

CLOSED SESSION 
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Ted Smith made a motion for the closed session, Steve Miller seconded the motion. 

1:48 p.m. Board was back in session and no action was taken.  

Action Items 

Carrie Butler presented a walk on Resolution 2022-18 - Change Order #2 to Contract 2020641 with Hall 
Contracting 30th Street Training Lot Project.  

• Hall Construction encountered subsurface debris in the eastern portion of the property being resurfaced
for the 30th Street Training Lot project.

• To address the need to excavate and backfill the affected area, we received a request to increase the
contract price from Hall Contracting in the amount of $239,250 with a new not-to-exceed amount of
$300,000.

• At this time, there may be potential for a greater amount of debris than estimated, which would be
removed, at a fixed unit price.

• The revised request was found to be fair and reasonable based on estimates provided by TARC’s
engineering consultant.

• All funds used are grant dollars and will increase from $1,347,790, with a new not-to-exceed amount of
$1,408,540.

The motion was duly moved for approval by Tawanda Owsley and seconded by Steve Miller.  The Board of 
Directors unanimously adopted the resolution.   

Carrie Butler presented Resolution 2023 – 19 Experimental Shared Mobility on Demand Pilot Project 

• This is a resolution authorizing the Executive Director to enter into negotiations for a multi-vendor
award for Experimental Shared Mobility on Demand and to conduct a Service and Fare Equity Analysis.

• We were seeking one vendor or multiple vendors to provide shared-mobility and on-demand services
for TARC.

• On March 8, 2023 request for proposal (RFP) was issued for such services.
• We received five proposals to this RFP and the Evaluation Committee scored and narrowed down the

proposals to four to do a second-round pf presentations and interviews; however, one of the proposers
removed themselves from the process.

• We conducted evaluations and interviews and TARC found that the proposals from MV Transportation,
Inc. and WHC KY dba zTrip were deemed the most responsible and responsive.  Thus TARC wishes to
award a multi-vendor contract with these two entities.

• We will begin the process to develop a fare structure for this service and to conduct a Service and Fare
Equity Analysis.

• We will begin negotiations for the service with the 2 entities listed above to come to terms for a multi-
vendor contract.

• We are very excited to be able to provide service in Kentucky and Indiana with these two pilots.

Ted Smith asked a quick question, “according to the scope of the service that you're going to be negotiating, 
how long will it take for the project to be in place?”  
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Carrie Butler answered by sharing that was part of the reason for negotiating.  We didn't feel like an 
exact dollar amount could be determined at this time, especially because of the challenges will 
be determining the fare structure for this service.  We are pleased that in addition to the funds that we 
budgeted through our 24 budget; TARC also received some funds through the Indiana DOT program, which 
are now available for the pilot project in Indiana.  I think at least a year on both sides of the river and, 
depending on how we negotiate the price, may even longer.  We will ask from our selected vendors to give us 
their absolute best price and final offers.  

The motion was duly moved for approval by Michael Schnuerle and the motion was seconded by Tawanda 
Owsley. The Board of Directors unanimously adopted the resolution.   

Carrie Butler presented Resolution 2021-43.3 Amendment 3 Management Consulting Services IDIQ 

• In November 2021, through Resolution 2021-43, the Board authorized the Executive Director to enter
into an agreement with TransPro Consulting for Management Consulting Professional Services.

• A first amendment was awarded in April (Resolution 2021-43.1) for a performance appraisal process
that is linked to the agency annual strategic plan.

• A second amendment was awarded in November 2022 (Resolution 2021-43.2) for a series of tasks
including a paratransit assessment, survey work and facilitation of two workshops. One task, the Board
Retreat is still in process.

• This amendment to Resolution 2021-43 is to further support the work plan tactics in the strategic plan in
order to best achieve the success outcomes: Customer Experience, Employee Engagement, Financial
Health, and Community Value.

• The following work orders are planned:
o Work Order 8 – Strategic Plan Update for FY 2024: $ 31,502;
o Work Order 9 – Executive Director Performance Evaluation:  $ 19,679;
o Work Order 10 – Executive Management Team Workshop for 2025: $ 9,639; and
o Work Order 12 - Phase Two Paratransit Assessment:  $ 45,587.

o Paratransit contract is coming up, it is due in December 2024.
• This resolution requests the Board of Directors to authorize the Executive Director to amend the

contract with TransPro to add this additional work order for the following amount:
o Work Order 11 – Staff Support for Project Management: $ 24,410.

Steve Miller that added that he supports moving forward with Work Order Number 11,  but asked the Board to 
not take any action on the other work orders to give the other board members time to discuss further. A delay 
of a month is requested.  

The motion was duly moved for approval by Ted Smith. The motion was seconded by Bonita Black. The Board 
of Directors unanimously adopted the resolution.   

Maria Harris presented Resolution 2023 – 20 Bus Air Suspension Components and Related Supplies 

• We are seeking one vendor or multi- vendors to supply bus air suspension components for TARC’s bus
fleet.

• On June 20, 2023 an invitation to bid (ITB) was issued for such parts.
• We received proposals from Gillig, LLC, Muncie Transit Supply, The Aftermarket Parts Company (NFI),

Neopart and Vehicle Maintenance Program, which were all deemed responsible and responsive and as
such, it was most favorable to TARC to offer a multi-vendor award to these vendors.

The motion was duly moved for approval by Ted Smith. The motion was seconded by Jan Day.  The Board of 
Directors unanimously adopted the resolution.   
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Maria Harris presented Resolution 2023-21 Rear Axle Components. 

• We are seeking one vendor or multi-vendors to supply bus axle components for TARC’s
bus fleet.

• On June 20, 2023 an invitation to bid (ITB) was issued for such parts.
• We received proposals from Gillig, LLC, Neopart, Muncie Transit Supply, The Aftermarket Parts

Company, which were all were deemed responsible and responsive.

The motion was duly moved for approval by Jan Day. The motion was seconded by Tawanda Owsley.  The 
Board of Directors unanimously adopted the resolution.   

Keith Shartzer Resolution 2023 – 22 Excess Workers’ Compensation Coverage. 

• Kentucky Administrative Regulation (KAR) 803 25:021 requires self-insured employers to have excess
coverage for workers’ compensation claims.

• We received four (4) quotes for the 2023/2024 Policy Year from Arch Insurance, Chubb, Midwest
Employers, and Safety National.

• Based on the recommendation of Underwriters Safety and Claims after discussion with the Chief
Financial Officer and Executive Director, the best option and value for TARC is the quote submitted by
Arch Insurance for the Excess Workers' Compensation and Employers Liability insurance policy with a
premium of $285,050, which will commence on September 1, 2023 and end on August 31, 2024.

The motion was duly moved for approval by Tawanda Day. The motion was seconded by Michael Shnuerle. 
The Board of Directors unanimously adopted the resolution.   

Staff Reports and Presentations 

Tonya Carter presented the Fiscal Year 2023 Audit Update. Refer to PowerPoint presentation 

Monthly Overview  

Carrie Butler presented the monthly overview.  

• The August service changes affected 10 different routes, including  Route 10 and Route 18.
• Route changes to improve access to grocery stores, schools, and medical facilities in the South End.
• Our on-time performance action plan, and a highlight story with WDRB on this Air Traffic Control pilot.
• We continued our community outreach with the mayor's Night Out in District 5, at an event down at the

Kroger on Broadway.

July Operational Update 

• William Harris presented Maintenance.
• Keith Shartzer presented Safety and Security.



TARC BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
• John Lockhart presented May Ridership.

o Michael Schnuerle asked “What triggers or criteria TARC uses to classify the coach not on time?

o John Lockhart responded that the coaches can be 2 minutes early or 6 minutes late.

o Michael followed up with another question. “Is there any tracking when the delay is well beyond six
minutes. So, if it's 10 minutes late, 20 minutes late, half an hour late, is there more tracking
available at those larger delay?”

o John responded “Yes, the available data, can show up average time minutes past 6 minutes. But in
general, if it's six minutes past the bus is considered late regardless, but yes we do have that data.
We have data on routes that are traditionally more than six minutes or maybe they're eight minutes
on average behind schedule.

o Michael would be interested in seeing the data.

o John will have that data available for the next board meeting.

 Tawanda Owsley asked is there is a ridership goal. 

o John Lockhart replied that we don’t have a ridership goal.

o Carrie Butler replied that prior to Covid our ridership numbers were around 10 million riders.  We 
hope to see the month after month growth. But we also want to make sure that we're 
concentrating on improving the customer experience because increasing ridership and having 
unhappy or unsatisfied customers will not be good.

o John added that we are working on efficiency and if we improve that efficiency, ridership will 
increase.

o More discussion followed concerning on time performance and monitoring the data.  More 
information will be shared with the Board.

• Anna Cooper presented Customer Service.
• Jennifer Miles presented ParaTransit Service.
• Bruce Withers presented information regarding an updated monitoring system that will be launched

soon.

Old Business  

Carrie Butler presented information regarding the status of Advertising Policy. 

• Presentation report from a University of Louisville PhD student report.
• We do not have a standalone advertising policy.
• We have policy language that is embedded in our bus advertising contract and in our Transit shelter,

advertising contract, but not a standalone policy.
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• The customer service committee heard from UofL PhD student.  We recommend that

we can do  another presentation to the finance committee to talk about financial
implications of showing alcohol advertising on buses and/or bus shelters.

Ted Smith updated the Board regarding several upcoming topics to discuss at the Board retreat possibly in late 
September.  

Question was asked regarding the high hot temperatures and white flag procedures. Water is available and 
TARC will take people to cooling stations for no fare.  

Adjournment 

Ted Smith made a motion to adjourn at 3:11 p.m. This motion was duly moved by Jan Day and seconded by 
Tawanda Owsley and approved by the Board. 

______________________________        _____________  

Ted Smith Chair of the TARC Board of Director  Date  



RESOLUTION 2023 - 23 
Approval of the Fiscal Year 2023 TARC Audited Financial Statement 
Report as presented 

A resolution approving the FY 2023 TARC Audited Financial Statement report as presented. 

WHEREAS, the Finance Committee met and discussed in detail on September 19, 2023, and 

WHEREAS, TARC received a clean opinion; and 

WHEREAS, TARC had no material misstatements; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Transit Authority of River City that 
the Board accepts the FY 2023 TARC Audited Financial Statement report as presented. 

ADOPTED THIS 26TH DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2023 

____________________________________ 
Ted Smith 
Chair of the Board of Directors 



 

MEMORANDUM 
To: TARC Board of Directors 

From: TARC Finance Committee 

Date: September 26, 2023 

Re: Resolution 2023 – 23  Fiscal Year 2023 TARC Audited Financial Statement Report 

The TARC Finance Committee met on September 19, 2023 at 1:30 p.m. for their monthly meeting. During 
this meeting TARC’s Audit Firm Crowe, LLC participated to discuss TARC’s Audited Financial Statement 
report.  

The Audited Financial Statement report was reviewed by the Chair of the Finance Committee and one 
other Board member the Chief Financial Officer, and the Executive Director during this meeting. Specific 
review included the: Management Discussion and Analysis; Statement of Net Position; Statement of 
Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position; Statement of Cash Flows; and the Schedule of 
Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Net Position – Budget to Actual and GASB 96. TARC received a 
clean opinion with no material misstatements.  

The Finance Committee would like to recommend accepting the Audited Financial Statement report as 
presented. Each of you should have received a copy in your packet to review and we are available for any 
questions you may have concerning the audited financial statements. 
  



 

 

RESOLUTION 2023 - 23 
Approval of the Fiscal Year 2023 TARC Audited Financial Statement 
Report as presented 

A resolution approving the FY 2023 TARC Audited Financial Statement report as presented. 

WHEREAS, the Finance Committee met and discussed in detail on September 19, 2023, and 

WHEREAS, TARC received a clean opinion; and 

WHEREAS, TARC had no material misstatements; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Transit Authority of River City that 
the Board accepts the FY 2023 TARC Audited Financial Statement report as presented. 

 

ADOPTED THIS 26TH DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2023 

 

____________________________________ 
Ted Smith 
Chair of the Board of Directors 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
Board of Directors 
Transit Authority of River City 
Louisville, Kentucky 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
Opinions 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities of Transit Authority of River City 
(TARC), a component unit of Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government, as of and for the year ended June 
30, 2023, and the fiduciary activities as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes to 
the financial statements, which collectively comprise the TARC’s basic financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective financial position of the business-type activities of TARC as of June 30, 2023, and 
the fiduciary activities as of December 31, 2022, and the respective changes in financial position and, where 
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinions 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards (Government Auditing Standards), issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the TARC, and to 
meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our 
audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinions. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about TARC’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
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2.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes 
our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are 
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would 
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we 
 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures 
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of TARC’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about TARC’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that management’s 
discussion and analysis, the schedule of changes in TARC’s net pension liability, schedule of TARC’s 
contributions, and the schedule money-weighted rates of return for the Employees’ Amended Retirement Plan, 
the schedule of TARC’s proportionate share of the net pension liability and schedule of TARC’s contributions for 
the County Employees’ Retirement System – Non-hazardous, and the schedule of TARC’s proportionate share 
of the net OPEB liability and schedule of TARC’s OPEB contributions for the County Employees’ Retirement 
System – Non-hazardous as reflected on the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be 
an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures 
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
  



 

 
 
 

3.  

Supplementary Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise TARC’s basic financial statements. The schedule of revenues, expenditures and changes in net 
position – budget to actual is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the 
basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and 
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic 
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of 
revenues, expenditures and changes in net position – budget to actual is fairly stated, in all material respects, 
in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated <> on our 
consideration of TARC’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of 
that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of TARC’s 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering TARC’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 

 
 
 
 

       Crowe LLP 
 
Louisville, Kentucky 
September <>, 2023 
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4. 

Financial Highlights and Current Known Facts, Decisions and Conditions Impacting Future Periods 
 
Financial Highlights and Current Known Facts, Decisions and Conditions Impacting Future Periods  
The management of the Transit Authority of River City (TARC) presents this narrative overview and analysis of 
the financial activities for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023.  
 
High points for the fiscal year included securing over $9 million in funding for zero-emission bus and bus facilities, 
launching three new grant-funded routes, bringing 14 new clean diesel buses into service, and completing several 
critical long-term planning studies, including TARC Tomorrow – our 10-year project and program plan – and our 
zero-emission bus transition plan. 
 
TARC completed Fiscal Year 2023 in a fairly stable position. The Jefferson County Occupational License Fee, 
or Mass Transit Trust Fund — the major source of TARC operating funds — was budgeted at $67.6 million for 
FY 2023. The actual receipts for FY 2023 was $71.1 million, a 5.1% increase over budget.  
 
TARC continued to benefit from the 2021 Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL), which made additional funding 
available to public transit agencies for capital purchases including fleet replacement, preventive maintenance, 
and purchased transportation. In Fiscal Year 2023, TARC completed 22 procurement projects and programmed 
over $15 million for key projects. The Commonwealth of Kentucky included $3.78 million in general fund dollars 
to match federal formula funding, while the state of Indiana provides funding through the Public Mass 
Transportation Fund. Additionally, the Kentuckiana Planning and Development Agency (KIPDA), the region’s 
Metropolitan Planning Organization, helped secure $2.9 million in funding for on-demand mobility services that 
will be deployed in the coming fiscal year to further support service in Indiana.  
 
While TARC anticipates the budget will remain stable in FY 2024, it is important to be clear about what lays 
ahead. Current projections show a large financial challenge on the horizon, as the costs of fixed-route and 
paratransit services, maintenance needs, health insurance, and pensions continue to rise while available funding 
and fare revenue remain relatively flat and pandemic-era emergency funding is drawn down. TARC’s top priority 
in the coming year is addressing this challenge, with a comprehensive analysis of existing routes set to kick off 
this fiscal year as well as continued efforts to identify all potential sources of revenue to ensure TARC can not 
only survive, but thrive.  
 
And even in the face of this challenge, TARC must continue to fulfill its charge – to deliver innovative and 
improved service to the region’s residents. In the coming year, the TARC team will move forward on other 
important projects that will ensure TARC is the trusted and reliable mobility choice for the region, including an 
experimental on-demand mobility pilot, the introduction of a mobile ticketing option for customers, the continued 
implementation of our zero-emission bus transition plan, and, in partnership with Louisville Metro, laying the 
ground work for enhanced rapid transit along the Broadway and Bardstown Road corridors.  
 
2024 is an important milestone. TARC will celebrate its 50th anniversary in 2024. And the history of public transit 
dates back even further. Transit has been a part of the Louisville region for over 150 years – from the City Railway 
Company and the Louisville and Nashville Railroad, to the Louisville Transit Company, to TARC today. To honor 
that milestone and that history, the TARC team will continue efforts to increase revenue and funding, ensure the 
highest efficiency in our routes and schedules, and to live up to our mission – to make Your Journey Our Priority. 
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5. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
This annual report consists of three parts: Management Discussion and Analysis (this section), Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Information. The Financial Statements include notes that provide additional 
information relating to TARC's financial condition. Readers are encouraged to read the notes to better understand 
the financial statements. 
 
Required Financial Statements 
 
Statement of Net Position 
 
The statement of net position includes all of TARC's assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, deferred inflows and 
the resulting net position, and provides information about the nature and amounts of investments in resources 
(assets) and the obligations to creditors (liabilities). The statement of net position also provides the basis for 
evaluating the capital structure of TARC and assessing the liquidity and financial flexibility of the organization. 
 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 
 
The statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position identifies the revenues generated, the 
expenses incurred and the resulting change in net position during the fiscal year. This statement helps the user 
to assess TARC's financial performance during the fiscal years covered by the Statement. 
 
Statement of Cash Flows 
 
The statement of cash flows provides information relating to TARC's cash receipts and cash expenditures during 
the fiscal year. The statement reports cash receipts, cash payments and net changes in cash, resulting from 
operating, non-capital, capital and financing activities, and provides answers to such questions as where cash 
come from, what was cash used for and what was the change in the cash balance during the reporting period. 
 
Budgetary Controls 
 
TARC operates its general activities in accordance with a budget adopted by the Board and approved by the 
Metro Louisville Council. 
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6. 

Financial 
Table 1 

Condensed Statements of Net Position 
 
 2023 2022 Change 
ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS 
Current assets $ 21,169,054 $ 17,099,685 $ 4,069,369 
Capital assets, net  79,709,248  79,987,564  (278,316) 
 Total assets  100,878,302  97,087,249  3,791,053 
 
Deferred outflows of resources  19,255,056  21,869,296  (2,614,240) 
 Total assets and deferred outflows  
   of resources $ 120,133,358 $ 118,956,545 $ 1,176,813 
 
 
LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS AND 
    NET POSITION 
Current liabilities $ 18,726,678 $ 12,496,662 $ 6,432,210 
Long-term liabilities   111,159,786  109,725,967  1,232,189 
 Total liabilities  129,886,464  122,222,629  7,663,835 
  
Deferred inflows of resources   14,918,124  24,882,903  (9,964,779) 
 Total liabilities and deferred inflows  
   of resources  144,804,588  147,105,532  (2,300,944) 
 
Net Position: 
 Net investment in capital assets  78,886,678  79,865,867  (156,619) 
 Unrestricted net position  (103,557,908)  (108,014,854)  3,634,376 
  Total net position  (24,671,230)  (28,148,987)  3,477,757 
Total liabilities, deferred inflow of resources 
  and net position $ 120,133,358 $ 118,956,545 $ 1,176,813 
 
 
Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 
TARC’s assets increased $3,791,053 from FY 2022. The most significant changes for assets was an increase in 
cash balances ($2.5million) due to timing of receipts and disbursements and increase in grant receivables 
($1.1million) such as from the CARES Act.  
 
Deferred outflows of resources are comprised of deferred amounts related to the TARC pension plan and the 
CERS pension and Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) plans. Deferred outflows, which include employer 
pension and OPEB contributions subsequent to the measurement date of the net pension and net OPEB 
liabilities, decreased $2,614,240 from FY 2022 due to changes in valuation assumptions. 
 
Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
TARC’s total liabilities increased by $7,663,835 due primarily to increases in CERS pension and OPEB liabilities 
($3.6 million), an increase in accounts payable ($2.8 million) and increase in claims liabilities ($1 million).  
 
Deferred inflows of resources are comprised of deferred amounts related to the TARC pension plan and the 
CERS pension and OPEB plans. Deferred inflows decreased $9,964,779 from FY 2022 due to changes in 
actuarial valuations for pension and OPEB. 
 
Net Position 
TARC’s liabilities and deferred inflows exceeded its assets and deferred outflows by $24,671,230 at the end of 
FY 2023. Net position increased $3,477,757 from FY 2022.    
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7. 

Capital Assets 
 

Table 2 
Summary of changes in capital assets 

 
 Balance at  Retirements Balance at 
 June 30, 2022 Additions (Adjustments) June 30, 2023 
 
 Land   $ 3,187,624 $ - $ - $ 3,187,624 
 Buildings   49,486,992  1,209,343  -  50,696,335 
 Coaches   130,849,174   7,358,585  (2,322,620)  135,885,139 
 Office and computer equipment  10,489,592   569,301  (254,369)  10,804,524 
 Other equipment  22,619,222   2,454,762  (3,974,413)  21,099,571 
      216,632,604  11,591,991  (6,551,402)  221,673,193 
 Accumulated depreciation  136,645,040   (11,783,511)  (6,464,606)  (141,963,945) 
 
  Capital assets, net $ 79,987,564 $ (191,520) $ (86,796) $ 79,709,248 
 
 
TARC's capital assets, net of depreciation, decreased by $278,316. This decrease is the result of current year 
depreciation expense and retirements of capital assets exceeding the acquisitions of capital assets. Acquisitions 
of capital assets were primarily purchases of coaches. Depreciation expense for FY 2023 was $11,786,495. 
Generally, capital asset purchases are completed with federal, state and/or local funding. 
 
  



TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY 
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/ 

JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT) 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Year ended June 30, 2023 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

 
(Continued) 

 
8. 

Revenues 
 

Table 3 
Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

       
       Dollar Percent 
     2023 2022 Change Change 
OPERATING REVENUES 
Passenger transportation $ 5,927,630 $ 5,252,950 $ 674,680  12.84% 
Special fares  1,626,012  1,553,207  72,805  4.69 
Interest, advertising, and other income  1,332,324  1,056,408  275,916  26.12 
 Total operating revenues  8,885,966  7,862,565  1,023,401  13.02  
   
OPERATING EXPENSES 
Labor, pension and OPEB  59,314,073  59,542,698  (228,625)  (0.38) 
Depreciation  11,786,495  11,961,040  (174,545)  (1.46) 
Other operating expenses  33,264,069  30,478,358  2,785,711  0.09 
 Total operating expenses  104,364,637  101,982,096  2,382,541  2.34 
  
NONOPERATING REVENUES AND 
  CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS 
Mass Transit Trust Fund resources  62,740,051  52,571,426  (10,168,625)  (19.34) 
Federal Transit Administration  34,127,467  38,059,566  3,932,099  (10.33) 
Indiana Department of Transportation  1,240,139  970,336  269,803  27.81 
KIPDA, KYTC, and Other  848,771  6,296,983  (5,448,212)  (86.52) 
  Total non-operating revenues   
    and capital contributions  98,956,428  97,898,311  (1,058,117)  (1.08) 
 
Change in net position  3,477,757  3,778,780 $       301,023   0.08 % 
 
Net position, beginning of year  (28,148,987)  (31,927,767) 
 
Net position, end of year $ (24,671,230) $ (28,148,987) 
 
TARC's operating revenues increased 13.02% from FY 2022. TARC receives significant funding from sources 
other than operating revenue. TARC has a dedicated funding source through the Mass Transit Trust Fund 
("MTTF") and also receives federal and state funding (Kentucky and Indiana). The MTTF contributed 
$59,696,312 for FY 2023 and $50,865,563 for FY 2022 for TARC's operating expenses and $3,043,769 for FY 
2023 and $1,705,863 for FY 2022 for capital related purchases. The federal funding included funding for 
operations and capital purchases of $34,127,467 for FY 2023 and $38,059,566 for FY 2022. 
 
  



 

 
 
 

9. 

Expenses 
 
Operating expenses, excluding depreciation, were $92,578,142 for FY 2023 and $90,021,056 for FY 2022. This 
change represents an increase of 2.84%. 
 
TARC is a labor-intensive industry and the cost of labor and benefits comprise the bulk of TARC's expenses. 
Labor and fringe benefits costs, including pension and OPEB valuation expenses, were $59,314,073 in FY 2023 
and $59,542,698 in FY 2022. TARC experienced increases in both labor and health care costs ($3.4 million), 
however these increases were offset by a decrease in pension and OPEB valuation expense ($3.6m), from FY 
2022.  
 
Purchased Transportation increased 21.61%, from $16,130,617 in FY 2023 and $13,264,507 in FY 2022. The 
bulk of purchased transportation is utilized to supply TARC 3 service, a service required by the Americans with 
Disabilities Act. 
  
Results of Operations 
 
TARC has made a commitment to taxpayers of this community to provide reliable and safe transportation. The 
economy has a direct effect on TARC's funding sources. TARC has made every effort to streamline its 
administrative staff. Also, the hiring and training of bus drivers is paramount in keeping operating costs at a 
manageable level. While there are no government-imposed limits on the balance of the MTTF, TARC's Board of 
Directors passed a motion that requires Board approval for the balance to go below two months of operating 
reserves. Currently, the MTTF balance, including accruals, is $56.5 million. MTTF dollars are also required to 
leverage the use of reimbursement for Federal funds. 
 
Requests for Additional Information 
 
This report is intended to provide readers with a general overview of TARC's finances and to provide information 
regarding the receipts and uses of funds. If you need clarification regarding a statement(s) made in the report or 
need additional information, please contact the Transit Authority of River City, Attention: Finance Department, 
1000 West Broadway, Louisville, Kentucky 40203. 
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10. 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
PROPRIETARY FUND 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
 
ASSETS 
Current assets: 
 Cash and cash equivalents   $ 12,372,983 
 Accounts and grants receivable, net          
  Trade receivables        1,374,232 
  Grant receivables          4,931,339 
 Materials and supplies inventory, net    2,267,929 
 Prepaid expenses    222,571 
  Total current assets         21,169,054 
   
Noncurrent assets: 
 Capital assets not being depreciated                                                3,187,624  
 Depreciable capital assets, net    76,521,624 
  Total capital assets    79,709,248 
 
  Total assets    100,878,302 
  
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
 Pension related     10,408,046 
 OPEB related     8,847,010  
  Total deferred outflows or resources    19,255,056 
  
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources   $ 120,133,358  
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11. 

 
 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
PROPRIETARY FUND 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
 
LIABILITIES 
Current liabilities: 
 Accounts payable and other liabilities    $ 10,796,671 
 Compensated absences    1,855,883  
 Estimated liability for uninsured liability claims     1,045,500  
 Estimated liability for uninsured workers’ compensation claims     3,361,500  
 Unearned revenue    1,667,124  
  Total current liabilities    18,726,678  
  
Noncurrent liabilities: 
 Compensated absences    1,746,519  
 Estimated liability for uninsured liability claims    109,900  
 Estimated liability for uninsured workers’ compensation claims    1,531,488 
 Net pension liability: 
  County Employee Retirement System    84,372,925 
  TARC Pension Plan    369,136 
 Net OPEB liability    23,029,818 
  Total net pension liability and net OPEB liability    107,771,879 
   Total noncurrent liabilities    111,159,786  
      
   Total liabilities    129,886,464  
 
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
 Pension related     4,638,992 
 OPEB related     10,279,132 
   Total deferred inflows of resources    14,918,124 
   
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources    144,804,588  
 
NET POSITION 
 Net investment in capital assets    78,886,678  
 Unrestricted    (103,557,908) 
  Total net position    (24,671,230) 
 
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position   $ 120,133,358 
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12. 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
PROPRIETARY FUND 

Year ended June 30, 2023 
 
 
Operating revenues 
 Passenger fares   $ 5,927,630  
 Special transit fares    1,626,012  
 Advertising    650,000  
 Interest     269,396 
 Other revenue    299,809 
 Recoveries    113,119  
  Total operating revenues    8,885,966 
  
Operating expenses 
 Labor     32,534,202  

Fringe benefits, budget basis    30,473,947 
 Annual pension valuation adjustments    (5,134,258) 
 Annual OPEB valuation adjustments    1,440,182 
    Total labor, fringe benefits, pension and OPEB    59,314,073 
  
 Services    5,618,683 
 Development costs    751,527  
 Materials and supplies    6,587,012 
 Utilities     1,079,278  
 Casualty and insurance    2,586,613  
 Miscellaneous    424,307  
 Rentals and purchased transportation    16,130,617  
 Interest     2,220 
 Depreciation    11,786,495 
 Loss on disposal    83,812 
  Total operating expenses    104,364,637  
 
Loss from operations    (95,478,671) 
 
Non-operating revenues 
 Mass Transit Trust Fund and interest    59,696,312
 Mass Transit Trust Fund capital assistance for operating    795,365
 Federal Transit Administration    24,326,288
 Indiana Department of Transportation    1,240,139 
 Kentucky Regional Planning and Development Agency/Other    492,808  
  Total non-operating revenues    86,550,912  
    
Loss before capital contributions    (8,927,759) 
 
Capital contributions: 
 Mass Transit Trust Fund and interest    2,248,374 
 Federal Transit Administration and Pass-Through Entities    9,801,179 
 KIPDA and other    355,963 
  Total capital contributions    12,405,516 
 
Change in net position    3,477,757 
Net position, beginning of year    (28,148,987) 
Net position, end of year   $ (24,671,230) 
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13. 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
PROPRIETARY FUND 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

Cash flows from operating activities 
 Receipts from passengers and service contracts   $ 6,177,358 
 Payments to suppliers    (31,040,843) 
 Payments to employees    (61,508,831) 
  Net cash used in operating activities    (86,372,316) 
 
Cash flows from non-capital financing activities 
 Federal assistance    26,304,443 
 State assistance    1,732,947 
 Mass Transit Trust Fund operational receipts    59,696,312 
  Net cash provided by non-capital financing activities    87,733,702 
 
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities 
 Payments on notes payable    (123,917) 
 Government Federal subsidies    10,157,142 
 Mass transit trust fund capital subsidies    2,662,941 
 Proceeds from disposal of capital assets    158,442 
 Proceeds from investments    30,643  
 Purchases of capital assets    (12,018,173) 
  Net cash provided by capital and related financing activities    867,078 
 
Cash flows from investing activities 
 Interest activity    269,396 
       
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    2,497,860 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year    9,875,123 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year   $ 12,372,983 
 
Reconciliation of loss from operations to net cash 
 used in operating activities: 
 Loss from operations   $ (95,478,671) 
 Adjustments to reconcile loss from operations 
   to net cash used in operating activities 
  Depreciation    11,786,945 
  Loss on sale of asset    83,812 
  Net pension liability    4,555,834 
  Pension related deferred outflows of resources    (1,302,671) 
  Pension related deferred inflows of resources    (8,387,421) 
  Net OPEB liability    (899,371) 
  OPEB related deferred outflows of resources    3,916,911 
  OPEB related deferred inflows of resources    (1,577,358) 
  (Increase) decrease in: 
   Trade accounts receivable    (2,730,731) 
   Inventories    (430,387) 
   Prepaid expenses    (38,391) 
   Accounts payable and other liabilities    2,864,287 
   Accrued compensated absences    205,508 
   Estimated liability for uninsured liability claims    (124,000) 
   Estimated liability for uninsured workers’ compensation claims    1,161,715 
   Unearned revenue    22,123 
 
    Net cash used in operating activities   $ (86,372,316)  
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14. 

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
FIDUCIARY FUND – PENSION TRUST FUND 

December 31, 2022 
 
 
 

ASSETS 
Investments, at fair value 
 Mutual funds   $ 882,285 
 Money market funds    5,000 
  Total investments, at fair value    887,285 
 
Other receivables    898 
 Total assets    888,183 
 
LIABILITIES 
Administrative expenses payable    4,244 
 Total liabilities    4,244 
 
NET POSITION 
 Net position restricted for pensions   $ 883,939 
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15. 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
FIDUCIARY FUND – PENSION TRUST FUND 

Year ended December 31, 2022 
 
 
 

Additions 
 Investment income: 
  Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value of investments   $ (193,637) 
  Interest and dividends    14,650 
       (178,987) 
 
 Employer contributions    232,990 
  Total additions    54,003 
 
Deductions 
 Benefit paid to participants    282,007
 Administrative expenses    25,586 
 Total deductions    307,593 
 
Net decrease in net position    (253,590) 
 
Plan fiduciary net position, beginning of year    1,137,529 
 
Plan fiduciary net position, end of year   $ 883,939 
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16. 

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF ORGANIZATION 
 
The Transit Authority of River City ("TARC" or the “Authority”) is a public corporation created by joint 
proceedings of the City of Louisville and Jefferson County Fiscal Court pursuant to KRS Chapter 96A of 
the Commonwealth of Kentucky to provide public transportation for Louisville, Kentucky and its metro areas. 
TARC is considered a discretely presented component unit of Louisville/Jefferson County Metro 
Government for financial statement reporting purposes. In order to measure the costs of providing mass 
transportation services, the revenues from those services and required subsidies, TARC has adopted the 
accounting methods appropriate for a governmental enterprise fund. TARC is a government entity and 
exempt from federal and state income taxes. 
 
Budgetary Controls:  Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America except that the budget omits depreciation expense and accounts 
for the principal portion of the capitalized lease payments as an expense. Appropriated budgets are adopted 
on an annual basis. All annual appropriations lapse at fiscal year-end. Project-length financial plans are 
adopted for all capital projects. Legal budgetary control is established at the fund level (i.e., expenditures 
for a fund may not exceed the total appropriation amount). TARC is authorized to transfer budgeted 
amounts within the fund; however, any revisions that alter the total expenditures must be approved by 
Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government Council. TARC's management prepares the annual budget 
and submits it to the Board of Directors (the "Board") for approval. This has historically been performed in 
April of each year and submitted to Metro Office of Management and Budget by May 1st. The Board-
approved budgets for the 2023 fiscal year were submitted to and approved by Louisville/Jefferson County 
Metro Government Council in June 2022. 
 
Concentration of Funding:  TARC relied on local funding from the Mass Transit Trust Fund (“MTTF” or the 
“Fund”) for 58% of all 2023 revenues. The Fund administers the proceeds of the Louisville-Jefferson County 
Metro Government (“Metro Government”) occupational license tax authorized by the electorate to finance 
a mass transportation program in Metro Louisville. The assets of the Fund are restricted to finance the 
operating deficits and capital expenditures approved in the Annual Budget by the Metro Government 
Council for TARC. TARC also relies on federal reimbursement assistance for operations and capital 
acquisitions. In 2023, federal revenues represented approximately 32% of all revenues due to the use of 
CARES and CRRSA funds, which were available to use at 100% or no non-federal (i.e., local match) share. 
For other federal formula or discretionary funds, the split between federal and local or state is 80 federal / 
20 non-federal, which means that local or state funds must be kept in reserve in order to leverage federal 
funds.  
 
 
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basis of Accounting:  The financial statements of TARC have been prepared in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) as applied to government units by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”). TARC operates as an enterprise fund and 
fiduciary fund and all activities are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus and 
the accrual basis of accounting.  
 
Use of Estimates:  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
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17. 

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Proprietary Fund:  The Authority is a single-enterprise proprietary fund and uses the accrual basis of 
accounting. Proprietary funds are used to account for operations that are financed in a manner similar to a 
private business enterprise and that a periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred and/or 
change in net position is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control, 
accountability, or other purposes. Authority activities are accounted for using the flow of economic 
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are 
recorded when earned, and expenses are recognized as soon as they result in liabilities for the benefits 
provided. Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items:  
 

• Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with the proprietary funds’ principal ongoing operations. The 
principal operating revenues of the Authority are charges to customers in the form of bus fares and 
reimbursement by sponsors of subsidized routes.  

• Operating expenses include the cost of providing transit service, administrative expenses and 
depreciation and amortization on capital assets.  

• Property taxes, federal, state, and local assistance used to finance operations and expenses not 
related to the provision of transit service are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.  

 
It is the Authority’s policy to apply restricted resources first when an obligation is incurred for which both 
restricted and unrestricted net position are available for use. 
 
Component Unit/Fiduciary Fund: The Authority's defined benefit pension trust fund is presented as a 
pension trust fiduciary fund in the accompanying financial statements. The defined benefit plan is 
considered a pension plan under GASB 67 and it meets the GASB 14, as amended, and GASB 84 
requirements for presentation as a fiduciary component unit. The plan’s trust document authorizes a Board 
of Trustees consisting of three members appointed by the Authority’s Board of Directors and three members 
of the Local Union, with one member being the person holding the office of Local Union President, as 
elected by Union membership, and the second and third member being selected by the Union President. 
The Authority reserves the right to amend, in whole or in part, any or all of the provisions of the plan. The 
Authority has assumed the obligation to make contributions to the plan. The plan’s assets are being held 
exclusively for the benefit of pension participants and cannot be used for the activities or obligations of the 
Authority. The Fiduciary Fund has been presented as of its fiscal year end December 31, 2022. 
 
Implementation of Accounting Standards: The Authority adopted the following accounting standards during 
the year, which were determined to have no impact on the Authority's financial position or results of 
operations: 
 

• GASB Statement 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships (P3s) and Availability Payment 
Arrangements (APAs). The objective of this Statement is to better meet the information needs of 
financial statement users by improving the comparability of financial statements among 
governments that enter into PPPs and APAs and by enhancing the understandability, reliability, 
relevance, and consistency of information about PPPs and APAs. Adoption of this Statement did 
not have any impact on the Authority’s financial position or results of operations. 
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18. 

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

• GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements. The 
objective of this Statement is to better meet the information needs of financial statement users by 
(a) establishing uniform accounting and financial reporting requirements for SBITAs; (b) improving 
the comparability of financial statements among governments that have entered into SBITAs; and 
(c) enhancing the understandability, reliability, relevance, and consistency of information about 
SBITAs. Adoption of this Statement did not have a material impact on the Authority’s financial 
position or results of operations.  
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents: TARC considers all highly liquid investments (including restricted investments) 
purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 
 
Prepaid Expenses:  Prepaid expenses consist of normal operating expenses for which payment is due in 
advance such as insurance and are expensed when the benefit is received. 
 
Accounts Receivable:  TARC uses the allowance for bad debts method of valuing doubtful accounts 
receivable, which is based on historical experience, coupled with a review of the current status of existing 
receivables. Allowance for doubtful accounts as of June 30, 2023 was $40,629.  
 
Materials and Supplies Inventory:  Inventory consists of fuel, tires, repair parts and supplies. No general 
administrative expenses are included in the inventory valuation. Expenses are recorded as the materials 
are consumed. Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or market using the first-in, first-out method. 
 
Capital Assets:  Capital assets are stated at cost and depreciated over their estimated useful lives using 
the straight-line method. TARC’s depreciation policy requires that all qualifying assets with costs in excess 
of $500 to be capitalized. Depreciation is recorded on all depreciable capital assets on a straight-line basis 
over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives are five to forty years for land 
improvements, forty years for buildings, ten to twenty years for building repairs and improvements, twelve 
years for coaches and capitalized vehicles, five years for other equipment, and five years for office 
equipment. TARC has acquired certain assets with funding provided by federal assistance from the FTA 
grant programs. TARC holds title to these assets; however, the federal government retains an interest in 
these assets should TARC no longer use the assets for mass transit purposes. TARC periodically reviews 
the carrying values of property and equipment for impairment whenever adverse events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. 
 
Net Position:  GASB requires the classification of net position into three components – net investment in 
capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted. These net position classifications are defined as follows: 
 

• Net investment in capital assets - This component consists of capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, notes, or other borrowings that 
are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. 

• Restricted net position – This component consists of any externally restricted funds or enabling 
legislation. 

• Unrestricted net position - This component of net position consists of net position that does not 
meet the definition of “restricted” or “net investment in capital assets.” 
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19. 

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Self-Insurance:  TARC is self-insured for workers' compensation and liability claims up to varying deductible 
amounts per occurrence for workers' compensation and liability claims. Other liability claims incurred prior 
to January 1, 1987 and workers' compensation claims in excess of the self-insured amounts are covered 
by varying amounts of insurance. 
 
TARC is self-insured for cyber property and liability claims per occurrence for third party liability coverages 
and data breach crisis management, first party network business interruption and extra expenses property 
coverages, and first party data breach crisis management property coverages to replace, recreate, restore 
or repair damaged programs, software or electronic data.  
 
Changes in TARC's liability for uninsured workers' compensation and uninsured liability claims for the year 
ended June 30, 2023 are as follows: 
 

Claims and 
 Beginning Changes in Claim Ending Due Within 
 Balance Estimates Payments Balance One Year 
 Uninsured worker’s 
   compensation $ 3,731,273 $ 3,431,889 $ (2,270,174) $ 4,892,988 $ 3,361,500 
 
 Uninsured liability claims $ 1,279,400 $ 1,105,652 $ (1,229,652) $ 1,155,400 $ 1,045,500      
 
Changes in TARC's liability for uninsured workers' compensation and uninsured liability claims for the year 
ended June 30, 2022 are as follows: 
 

Claims and 
 Beginning Changes in Claim Ending Due Within 
 Balance Estimates Payments Balance One Year 
 Uninsured worker’s 
   compensation $ 3,297,688 $ 2,486,830 ($ 2,053,245) $ 3,731,273 $ 693,351 
 
 Uninsured liability claims $ 2,014,700 $ 641,700 ($ 1,377,000) $ 1,279,400 $ 405,500 
 
Excess coverage for liability claims can be purchased through Louisville Area Governmental Self-Insurance 
Trust when available. TARC participates in the Louisville Area Governmental Self Insurance Trust (the 
"Trust"). The Trust provides insurance coverage on liability claims made in excess of each member's 
deductible amount. The amount of coverage available to TARC could be limited by the total assets of the 
Trust.   
 
There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the previous year. Settlement 
amounts have not exceeded insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years for uninsured worker’s 
compensation and uninsured liability claims at the TARC level. 
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20. 

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Compensated Absences:  Accrued compensated absences represent vested or accumulated sick time and 
vacation leave that is expected to be liquidated with expendable available financial resources. Full-time 
employees who have a continuous service record of one year or longer are entitled to an annual vacation 
from one to six weeks, based on a predetermined schedule. TARC’s policy permits employees to 
accumulate earned but unused vacation. Employees can receive payment for earned, but unused vacation 
leave up to 240 hours. For bargaining employees, if the employee’s predetermined schedule is changed by 
TARC’s management, TARC is required to reschedule the employee’s vacation time, which may carry the 
time over to the following year. In the event the non-bargaining employee has not taken his or her vacation 
by the end of the calendar year then his or her vacation time can be taken, paid or lost as deemed prudent 
by TARC’s management. All full-time active employees earn sick days at the rate of 5/6 of a day per month, 
10 days per year, up to a maximum of 145 days. Upon retirement, the following two options are available 
for the unused sick day accumulation:  
 

a. TARC will buy back all accumulated sick days at 100% of the employee’s current pay rate, or 
b. If the employee is a member of TARC’s retirement plan, the unused sick days can be considered 

as time worked to either advance a normal retirement date and increase service credits. 
 
Changes in TARC's liability for compensated absences for the year ended June 30, 2023 are as follows: 
 
 Beginning   Ending Due Within 
 Balance Increases Decreases Balance One Year 
 
  Compensated absences $ 3,397,458 $ 4,721,573 $ (4,516,629) $ 3,602,402 $ 1,855,883 
 
Unearned Revenue:  Advance fare media that have not been redeemed through the fare box are shown as 
unearned revenue. Unearned revenue at June 30, 2023 was $1,667,124. 
 
Net Pension Liability:  TARC has recorded a net pension liability reflecting the difference between the total 
pension liabilities and the fiduciary net positions of the single employer defined benefit plan and the County 
Employees Retirement System plan. For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows 
and inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net 
position of the single employer defined benefit plan and the County Employees Retirement System (CERS) 
plan and additions to deductions from the single employer defined benefit plan and the CERS plan fiduciary 
net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the single employer defined 
benefit plan and the CERS plan.  For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee 
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are 
reported at fair value. 
 
 Beginning  Ending  
 Balance             Net Change Balance  
 At June 30, 2023: 
  TARC Pension Plan $ 475,023 $ (105,887) $ 369,136 
  CERS  79,711,204  4,661,721   84,372,925 
  
   Net pension liability $ 80,186,227 $ 4,555,834 $ 84,742,061 
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21. 

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Net OPEB Liability:  TARC has recorded a net OPEB liability reflecting the difference between the total 
OPEB liability and the fiduciary net positions of the County Employees Retirement System plan. For 
purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to 
pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the CERS plan and additions 
to deductions from the CERS plan fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they 
are reported by the CERS plan. For this purpose, benefit payments recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
 Beginning  Ending  
 Balance             Net Change Balance  
 At June 30, 2023: 
  Net OPEB liability $ 23,929,189 $ (899,371) $ 23,029,818 
 
Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources:  These deferred amounts represent a 
consumption (outflow) or acquisition (inflow) of net position that applies to future periods. TARC’s activities 
are related to recognition of changes in its defined benefit plans’ net pension liability and net OPEB liability 
totaling $14,918,124 of deferred inflows of resources and $19,255,056 of deferred outflows of resources 
that will be amortized to expense in future periods. 
 
Operating Revenues and Expenses: Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing 
services in connection with ongoing operations. Revenues are recorded as income in a manner consistent 
with the timing of the provided service. Operating expenses include the cost of delivering services, 
administrative expenses and depreciation expenses on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not 
meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. 
 
Fare Revenues:  Passenger fares are recorded as revenue at the time such services are performed, and 
revenues pass through the fare box. Sales of Stored Rides, Period Passes, and Pay as you go are recorded 
initially as unredeemed fares and recognized as income upon passage through the fare box. All other fare 
products are considered revenue when purchased. 
 
Capital and Operating Grants: Certain expenditures for capital acquisitions, improvements and 
development of an urban mass transportation system have received significant federal funding through the 
Federal Transit Administration (FTA). The balance of such expenditures is funded through various grants 
and receipts from MTTF. Funds provided by governmental authorities for capital and operating assistance 
are recorded when earned.  
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22. 

NOTE 3 - CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
A summary of cash, cash equivalents and investments at June 30, 2023 is as follows: 
 
  Cash and Cash 
   Equivalents 
 Operating accounts: 
  Cash in bank and on hand   $  4,308,265 
  U.S. Government money market         8,064,718 
   Total   $  12,372,983 
 
The bank balance of cash, cash equivalents and investments as of June 30, 2023 was $8,918,122. The 
difference represents outstanding checks and deposits in transit.  
 
Custodial Credit Risk:  Custodial credit risk for deposits and investments is the risk that, in the event of 
failure by a financial institution, TARC may not be able to recover the value of its deposits and investments 
or collateral securities that are in the possession of the financial institution. TARC's investment policy 
dictates that all cash and investments maintained in any financial institution named as a depository be 
collateralized and the collateral held in the name of TARC. TARC's cash deposits at June 30, 2023, were 
entirely covered by FDIC insurance or by pledged collateral held by TARC's agent bank in TARC's name. 
 
Interest Rate Risk:  Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates of investments will adversely 
affect the fair value of an investment. TARC's investment policy limits investment maturities as a means of 
managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. Investments are made 
based upon prevailing market conditions at the time of the transaction. TARC reviews its cash and 
investment needs in order to maintain adequate liquidity to meet its cash flow needs. Assets categorized 
as short-term operating funds will be invested in investments maturing in 12 months or less. 
 
Credit Risk:  Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its 
obligations. Investments are made under the 'prudent investor' standard to ensure that (a) due diligence is 
exercised in accordance with State law, (b) any negative deviations are reported timely and (c) reasonable 
action is taken to control any adverse developments. TARC's investment policy requires investment in 
instruments authorized in KRS 66.480(a)-(d). 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk:  TARC's investment policy requires diversification of the overall portfolio to 
eliminate the risk of loss from an over-concentration of assets in a specific class of security, a specific 
maturity, and/or a specific issuer. 
 
Foreign Currency Risk:  Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely 
impact the fair value of an investment. TARC is not exposed to this risk and its investment policy does not 
provide for investments in foreign currency denominated securities. 
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23. 

NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
The changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2023 are summarized as follows: 
 
 Balance at  Retirements Balance at 
 July 1, 2022 Additions (Adjustments) June 30, 2023 
Capital Assets, Not Being  
   Depreciated 
 Land   $ 3,187,624 $ - $ -  3,187,624 
 
Depreciable Capital Assets, Net 
  Capital Assets 
 Buildings   49,486,992  1,209,343   -  50,696,335 
 Coaches   130,849,174  7,358,585  (2,322,620)  135,885,139 
 Office and computer equipment  10,489,592  569,301  (254,369)  10,804,524 
 Other equipment  22,619,222  2,454,762  (3,974,413)  21,099,571 
      213,444,980  11,591,991  (6,551,400)  218,485,569 
     
  Accumulated Depreciation: 
 Buildings  (29,396,715)  (1,543,422)   -  (30,940,137) 
 Coaches  (79,701,033)      (7,903,241)  2,185,425  (85,418,849)  
 Office and computer       
    equipment  (8,823,437)  (713,489)  252,825  (9,284,101) 
 Other equipment  (18,723,855)  (1,623,359)  4,026,356  (16,320,858) 
      (136,645,040)  (11,783,511)  6,467,606  (141,963,945) 
  Net Depreciable Capital Assets  76,799,940  (191,520)  (86,796)  76,521,624 
 
 Total Capital Assets, net $ 79,987,564 $ (191,520) $ (86,796) $ 79,709,248 
  
 
NOTE 5 – LINE OF CREDIT BORROWINGS 
 
TARC entered into a direct borrowing agreement with Fifth Third Bank that established an unsecured line-
of-credit whereby TARC has available borrowings up to $4,000,000 through its maturity date on November 
30, 2023. The interest rate is the SOFR rate plus 1.50% (1.08% at June 30, 2023). There was no 
outstanding balance on the line of credit as of June 30, 2023. 
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24. 

NOTE 6 - LOUISVILLE METRO GOVERNMENT - MASS TRANSIT TRUST FUND 
 
The majority of TARC’s funding is from an occupational tax levied on residents of Jefferson County, 
Kentucky. A tax of 0.2% of taxable income is levied annually. The taxes are collected by the Revenue 
Commission of the Louisville Metro Government and deposited into MTTF. TARC is authorized to draw 
MTTF funds for operating and capital expenditures.  
 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, TARC recorded nonoperating revenues of $59,696,312 and $3,145,399 
for capital assistance for operations and capital contributions from MTTF. TARC may receive authorization 
to draw amounts in excess of originally authorized amounts in order to manage cash flow during the year. 
Any such excess (or under) draws are recorded as a payable (receivable) to MTTF. At June 30, 2023, 
TARC recorded a receivable due from MTTF for $762,871 for capital match. 
 
 
NOTE 7 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
TARC entered into a contract for purchased transportation service which expires on December 10, 2024. 
Purchased transportation services expense for the year ended June 30, 2023 was $16,130,617. TARC has 
a contract that expires March 2023 with a vendor for the use of bus tires. The monthly charge to operations 
is based on mileage placed on the tires. Tire usage expense for the year ended June 30, 2023 was 
$691,952.  
 
TARC is dependent upon the availability of diesel fuel. Increases in the cost of fuel may, in the future, 
adversely affect the profitability of TARC. There is no assurance that diesel fuel prices will not increase. To 
alleviate possible fuel cost increases, TARC periodically enters into fixed unit cost fuel contracts with fuel 
suppliers to purchase fuel at or below current market prices. In February 2021, TARC entered into an 
agreement with a fuel supplier to provide diesel fuel to support the fleet operation for twenty-four (24) 
months at a fixed price of $1.7887 per gallon of up to 2,000,000 gallons. The base amount of this contract 
is for $7,152,800, which is based on the estimated annual fuel usage of TARC of 2,000,000 gallons 
multiplied by the contractor’s bid excluding taxes. The contract not to exceed amount is $7,512,000, which 
allows for a 5% increase, if needed, to support any potential increase in the last year of the term. 
 
Expenditures financed by federal and state grants are subject to audit by the granting agencies. The 
amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies cannot be determined 
at this time, although TARC expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 
 
TARC is subject to various legal actions and general asserted and unasserted claims arising in the ordinary 
course of its business. Litigation is subject to many uncertainties; the outcome of individual litigated matters 
is not predictable with assurance. While it is reasonably possible that some of these foregoing matters may 
be decided unfavorably to TARC within the next year, it is the opinion of management that the ultimate 
liability, if any, with respect to these matters will not materially affect the financial position of TARC. 
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25. 

NOTE 8 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN – COST 
SHARING - CERS  

 
General Information About the Pension and OPEB Plan: All full-time and eligible part-time employees 
of TARC participate in County Employee Retirement System (CERS), a cost-sharing, multiple-employer 
defined benefit pension plan administered by the Kentucky Public Pensions Authority (KPPA), an agency 
of the Commonwealth. Under the provisions of Kentucky Revised Statute Section 78.520, the Board of 
Trustees (the Board) of KPPA administers CERS, Kentucky Employee Retirement System, and State Police 
Retirement System. Although the assets of the systems are invested as a whole, each system’s assets are 
used only for the payment of benefits to members of that plan, and a pro rata share of administrative costs. 
 
The plan provides for retirement, disability and death benefits to plan members. Retirement benefits may 
also be extended to beneficiaries of plan members under certain circumstances. Under the provisions of 
Kentucky Revised Statute Section 61.701, the Board of KPPA also administers the Kentucky Retirement 
Systems Insurance Fund. The statutes provide for a single insurance fund to provide group hospital and 
medical benefits to retirees drawing a benefit from the three pension funds administered by KPPA. The 
assets of the insurance fund are invested as a whole. KPPA and the Commonwealth have statutory 
authority to determine Plan benefits and employer contributions. 
 
KPPA issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required 
supplementary information for CERS. The report may be obtained by writing to Kentucky Retirement 
System, Perimeter Park West, 1260 Louisville Road, Frankfort, Kentucky 40601, or it may be found at the 
KPPA website at www.kyret.ky.gov. 
 
Basis of Accounting: For purposes of measuring the net pension and other post-employment benefits 
plan (OPEB) liabilities, deferred outflow of resources and deferred inflow of resources related to pensions 
and OPEB, pension and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of CERS and additions 
to/deductions from CERS’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are 
reported by CERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are 
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair 
value. 
 
Pension Benefits Provided: The information below summarizes the major retirement benefit provisions of 
CERS-non-hazardous. It is not intended to be, nor should it be interpreted as, a complete statement of all 
benefit provisions: 
 
Members whose participation began before 8/1/2004: 
Age and Service Requirement: Age 65 with at least one month of non-hazardous duty service credit, or at 
any age with 27 or more years of service credit. 
 
Benefit:     If a member has at least 48 months of service, the monthly benefit is 2.20% times final average 

compensation times years of service depending on participation and retirement dates. Final 
compensation is calculated by taking the average of the highest five (5) fiscal years of salary. 
If the number of months of service credit during the five (5) year period is less than forty-eight 
(48), one (1) or more additional fiscal years shall be used. If a member has less than 48 months 
of service, the monthly benefit is the actuarial equivalent of two times the member's 
contributions with interest. 
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26. 

NOTE 8 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN –   
  COST SHARING - CERS (Continued) 
 
Members whose participation began on or after 8/1/2004, but before 9/1/2008: 
Age and Service Requirement: Age 65 with at least one month of non-hazardous duty service credit, or at 
any age with 27 or more years of service credit. 
 
Benefit:   If a member has at least 48 months of service, the monthly benefit is 2.00% multiplied by final 

average compensation, multiplied by years of service. Final compensation is calculated by 
taking the average of the highest five (5) fiscal years of salary. If the number of months of 
service credit during the five (5) year period is less than forty-eight (48), one (1) or more 
additional fiscal years shall be used. If a member has less than 48 months of service, the 
monthly benefit is the actuarial equivalent of two times the member's contributions with interest. 

 
Members whose participation began on or after 9/1/2008 but before 1/1/2014: 
Age and Service Requirement: Age 65 with 60 months of non-hazardous duty service credit, or age 57 if 
age plus service equals at least 87. 

 
Benefit: The monthly benefit is the following benefit factor based on service credit at retirement plus 

2.00% for each year of service greater than 30 years, multiplied by final average compensation, 
multiplied by years of service. 

 
 Service Credit Benefit Factor 

 
 10 years or less 1.10% 
 10+ - 20 years 1.30% 
 20+ - 26 years 1.50% 
 26+ - 30 years 1.75% 

 
Final compensation is calculated by taking the average of the last (not highest) five (5) complete 
fiscal years of salary. Each fiscal year used to determine final compensation must contain 
twelve (12) months of service credit. 

 
Members whose participation began on or after 1/1/2014: 
Age and Service Requirement:  Age 65 with 60 months of non-hazardous duty service credit, or age 57 if 
age plus service equals at least 87. 
 
Benefit:  Each year that a member is an active contributing member to the System, the member 

contributes 5.00% of creditable compensation, and the member's employer contributes 4.00% 
of creditable compensation, which is a portion of the total employer contribution, into a 
hypothetical account. The hypothetical account will earn interest annually on both the member's 
and employer's contribution at a minimum rate of 4.00%. If the System's geometric average 
net investment return for the previous five years exceeds 4.00%, then the hypothetical account 
will be credited with an additional amount of interest equal to 75.00% of the amount of the 
return which exceeds 4.00%. All interest credits will be applied to the hypothetical account 
balance on June 30 based on the account balance as of June 30 of the previous year. Upon 
retirement the hypothetical account which includes member contributions, employer 
contributions and interest credits can be withdrawn from the System as a lump sum or 
annuitized into a single life annuity option. 
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27. 

NOTE 8 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN – COST 
SHARING - CERS (Continued) 

 
OPEB Benefits Provided: The information below summarizes the major retirement benefit provisions of 
CERS-non-hazardous. It is not intended to be, nor should it be interpreted as, a complete statement of all 
benefit provisions: 
 
Insurance Tier 1: Participation began before 7/1/2003 
 
Benefit Eligibility: Recipient of a retirement allowance 
 
Benefit:  The percentage of member premiums paid by the retirement system are dependent on the 

number of years of service. Benefits also include duty disability retirements, duty death in 
service, non-duty death in service and surviving spouse of a retiree. 

 
Insurance Tier 2: Participation began on or after 7/1/2003, but before 9/1/2008 
 
Benefit Eligibility: Recipient of a retirement allowance with at least 120 months of service at retirement 
 
Benefit:  The system provides a monthly contribution subsidy of $10 for each year of earned service. 

The monthly contribution is increased by 1.5% each July 1. Benefits also include duty disability 
retirements, duty death in service and non-duty death in service. 

 
Insurance Tier 3: Participation began on or after 9/1/2008 
 
Benefit Eligibility: Recipient of a retirement allowance with at least 180 months of service at retirement 

 
Benefit:  The system provides a monthly contribution subsidy of $10 for each year of earned service. 

The monthly contribution is increased by 1.5% each July 1. Benefits also include duty disability 
retirements, duty death in service and non-duty death in service. 

 
Contributions:  TARC was required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate determined by Statute. 
Per Kentucky Revised Statute Section 78.545(33) normal contribution and past service contribution rates 
shall be determined by the KPPA Board on the basis of an annual valuation last preceding July 1 of a new 
biennium. The KPPA Board may amend contribution rates as of the first day of July of the second year of 
a biennium, if it is determined on the basis of a subsequent actuarial valuation that amended contribution 
rates are necessary to satisfy requirements determined in accordance with actuarial bases adopted by the 
KPPA Board.  
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, participating employers contributed 26.79% (23.40% allocated to 
pension and 3.39% allocated to OPEB) as set by KPPA, respectively, of each Non-hazardous employee's 
creditable compensation. These percentages are inclusive of both pension and insurance payments for 
employers. Administrative costs of KPPA are financed through employer contributions and investments 
earnings.  
 
TARC has met 100% of the contribution funding requirement for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. Total 
current year contributions recognized by the Plan were $9,129,442 ($7,974,205 related to pension and 
$1,155,237 related to OPEB) for the year ended June 30, 2023. The OPEB contributions amount does not 
include the implicit subsidy reported in the amount of $744,948. 
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28. 

NOTE 8 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN –  
  COST SHARING - CERS (Continued) 
 
Members whose participation began before 9/1/2008: 
 
Non-hazardous member contributions equal 5% of all creditable compensation. Interest paid on the 
members’ accounts is currently 2.5%; and per statute shall not be less than 2.0%. Members are entitled 
to a full refund of contributions with interest. 
 
Members whose participation began on or after 9/1/2008: 
 
Non-hazardous member contributions equal to 6% of all creditable compensation, with 5% being 
credited to the member’s account and 1% deposited to the KPPA 401(h) Account. Interest paid on the 
members’ accounts will be set at 2.5%. Members are entitled to a full refund of contributions and 
interest in their individual account, however, the 1% contributed to the insurance fund is non-refundable. 
 
Members whose participation on or after 1/1/2014: 
 
Non-hazardous member contributions equal to 6% of all creditable compensation, with 5% being credited 
to the member’s account and 1% deposited to the KPPA 401(h) Account. Members are entitled to a full 
refund of contributions and interest on the member’s portion of the hypothetical account, however, the 1% 
contributed to the insurance fund is non-refundable. 
 
PENSION INFORMATION 
 
Total Pension Liability: The total pension liability ("TPL") was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
June 30, 2021. An expected TPL was determined at June 30, 2022 using standard roll-forward techniques. 
The following actuarial assumptions were applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 
Price inflation:    2.30% 
Salary increases:   3.30% to 10.30%, varying by service years, including inflation 
Investment rate of return: 6.25%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation 
 
The mortality table used for active members is PUB-2010 General Mortality table, projected with the 
ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2010. For healthy retired 
members and beneficiaries, the mortality table used is the PUB-2010 General Mortality table based on 
mortality experience from 2013-2018, projected with the ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality 
improvement scale using a base year of 2019 (set back 3 years for males). For disabled members, the 
mortality table used is the PUB-2010 Disabled Mortality table, with a 4-year set-forward for both male and 
female rates, projected with the ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base 
year of 2010. The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019 valuation were based on the results of 
an actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2013 – June 30, 2018.  
 

(a) Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.25%, which did 
not change from the prior year. 

 
(b) Projected Cash Flows:  The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumes 

that the funds receive the required employer contributions each future year, as determined by the 
current funding policy established in Statute as amended by House Bill 362 (passed in 2018) over 
the remaining 30 years (closed) amortization period of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability.  
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29. 

NOTE 8 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN – 
  COST SHARING - CERS (Continued) 

 
 (c) Long-Term Rate of Return: The long-term expected return on plan assets is reviewed as part of 

the regular experience studies prepared every five years for the System. The most recent analysis, 
performed for the period covering fiscal years 2013 through 2018 is outlined in a report dated April 
12, 2019. However, the Board of KPPA has the authority to review the assumptions on a more 
frequent basis and adopt new assumptions prior to the next scheduled experience study. The long-
term expected rate of return was determined by using a building-block method in which best-
estimate ranges of expected future real rate of returns are developed for each asset class. The 
ranges are combined by weighting the expected future real rate of return by the target asset 
allocation percentage. 

 
(d) Municipal Bond Rate: The discount rate determination does not use a municipal bond rate. Based 

on the stated assumptions and the projection of cash flows as of each fiscal year ending, the non-
hazardous and hazardous pension plans’ fiduciary net position and future contributions were 
separately projected and were each sufficient to finance all the future benefit payments of the 
current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan 
investments was applied to all periods of the projected benefit payments to determine the total 
pension liability for each plan. 

 
(e) Periods of Projected Benefit Payments: The long-term assumed rate of return was applied to all 

periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
 

(f) Assumed Asset Allocation: The target asset allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates 
of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table: 

 
  Target Long-Term Expected 
 Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return 
 

 Equity:  60.00% 
    Public  50.00%  4.45%    
    Private equity  10.00%  10.15% 
         
  

 Fixed Income:  20.00%   
    Core bonds  10.00%  0.28% 
    Specialty Credit/High Yield  10.00%  2.28% 
    Cash    0.00%     -0.91% 
  

 Inflation Protected:  20.00%  
    Real estate  7.00%  3.67%    
    Real return  13.00%   4.07% 
  

  Total  100.00%   
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan assets was established by the KPPA Board of 
Trustees at 6.25% based on a blending of the factors described above.  



TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY 
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/ 

JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT) 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
 

 
(Continued) 

 
30. 

NOTE 8 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN – 
  COST SHARING - CERS (Continued) 
 

 (g) Sensitivity Analysis: This paragraph requires disclosure of the sensitivity of the net pension 
liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents TARC's allocated portion of the net 
pension liability ("NPL") of the System, calculated using the discount rate of 6.25%, as well as what 
TARC's allocated portion of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount 
rate that is 1 percentage-point lower (5.25%) or 1 percentage-point higher (7.25%) than the current 
rate:  

   Current 
  1% Decrease  Discount Rate 1% Increase 
  (5.25%) (6.25%) (7.25%) 
 TARC’s net position liability -  
  Non-hazardous $ 105,455,688 $ 84,372,925 $ 66,935,730 
 
Employer's Portion of the Collective Net Pension Liability: TARC's proportionate share of the net 
pension liability, as indicated in the prior table, is $84,372,925, or approximately 1.17%. The net pension 
liability was distributed based on 2022 actual employer contributions to the plan. TARC’s prior year 
proportionate share of the net pension liability was $79,711,204, or approximately 1.25%. 
 
Measurement Date: The total pension liability, net pension liability, and sensitivity information shown in 
this report are based on an actuarial valuation date of June 30, 2021. The total pension liability was rolled-
forward from the valuation date to the plan’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2022 using generally accepted 
actuarial principles. 
 
Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms: Since the prior measurement date, there were no changes 
in assumptions and benefit terms. 
 
Changes Since Measurement Date: There were no changes between the measurement date of the 
collective net pension liability and the employer's reporting date. 
 
Pension Expense: TARC was allocated pension benefit of $4,792,708 related to the CERS for the year 
ended June 30, 2023.  
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31. 

NOTE 8 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN – 
  COST SHARING - CERS (Continued) 
 
Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows: Since certain expense items are amortized over closed periods 
each year, the deferred portions of these items must be tracked annually. If the amounts serve to reduce 
pension expense they are labeled as deferred inflows. If they will increase pension expense, they are 
labeled deferred outflows. The amortization of these amounts is accomplished on a level dollar basis, with 
no interest included in the deferred amounts. Experience gains/losses and the impact of changes in 
actuarial assumptions, if any, are amortized over the average remaining service life of the active and 
inactive System members at the beginning of the fiscal year. Investment gains and losses are amortized 
over a fixed five-year period. Deferred inflows and outflows as of the Measurement Date include: 
 
   Deferred Deferred 
   Outflows Inflows 
   of Resources of Resources 
 
 Difference between expected and actual experience: $ 90,205 $ 751,377 
 Change of assumptions:  -   -  
 Changes in proportion and differences between employer 
  contributions and proportionate shares of contributions:  72,709  3,887,615  
 Differences between expected and actual investment 
   earning on plan investments:  2,163,016  -  
    2,325,930  4,638,992 
 Contributions subsequent to the measurement date:  7,974,205  -  
 
  Total $ 10,300,135 $ 4,638,992 
 
Deferred outflows of resources resulting from employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 
of $7,974,205 will be recognized as a reduction of net pension liability in the year ending June 30, 2024. 
The remainder of the deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources are amortized over two to four 
years with remaining amortization as follows: 
 
 Year ending June 30: 
  2023 $ (2,238,609) 
  2024  (1,762,282) 
  2025  (709,022) 
  2026  2,396,850 
 
   $ (2,313,062) 
 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the pension plans' fiduciary net position 
is available in the separately issued CERS pension plan financial reports. 
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32. 

NOTE 8 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN – 
  COST SHARING - CERS (Continued) 
 
OPEB INFORMATION 
 
Total OPEB Liability: The total other postemployment benefits plan (“OPEB”) liability was determined by 
an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2021. An expected total OPEB liability was determined at June 30, 
2022 using standard roll-forward techniques. The following actuarial assumptions were applied to all 
periods included in the measurement: 
 
Price inflation:    2.30% 
Payroll growth rate:   2.00% 
Salary increases:   3.30% to 10.30%, varying by service years, including inflation 
Investment rate of return: 6.25%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation 
Healthcare trend rates: 
Pre-65: Initial trend starting at 6.30% at January 1, 2023 and gradually 

decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% over a period of 13 
years 

Post-65: Initial trend starting at 6.30% at January 1, 2019 and gradually 
decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% over a period of 13 
years 

   
The mortality table used for active members is PUB-2010 General Mortality table, projected with the 
ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2010. For healthy retired 
members and beneficiaries, the mortality table used is the PUB-2010 General Mortality table based on 
mortality experience from 2013-2018, projected with the ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality 
improvement scale using a base year of 2019 (set back 3 years for males). For disabled members, the 
mortality table used is the PUB-2010 Disabled Mortality table, with a 4-year set-forward for both male and 
female rates, projected with the ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base 
year of 2010. The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019 valuation were based on the results of 
an actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2013 – June 30, 2018. 
 
Discount rate assumptions: 
 

(a) Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 5.20%, which 
decreased from the 5.34% discount rate used in the prior year. 

 
(b) Projected Cash Flows: The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed 

the local employers and plan members would contribute the actuarially determined contribution 
rate of projected compensation for each future year calculated in accordance with the current 
funding policy. 
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33. 

NOTE 8 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN –  
  COST SHARING - CERS (Continued) 
 

(c) Long-Term Rate of Return: The long-term expected return on plan assets is reviewed as part of 
the regular experience studies prepared every five years for the System. The most recent analysis, 
performed for the period covering fiscal years 2013 through 2018 is outlined in a report dated April 
12, 2019. However, the Board of KPPA has the authority to review the assumptions on a more 
frequent basis and adopt new assumptions prior to the next scheduled experience study. The long-
term expected rate of return was determined by using a building-block method in which best-
estimate ranges of expected future real rate of returns are developed for each asset class. The 
ranges are combined by weighting the expected future real rate of return by the target asset 
allocation percentage.  

 
(d) Municipal Bond Rate: The discount rate determination used a municipal bond rate of 1.92% as 

reported in Fidelity Index’s “20 – Year Municipal GO AA Index” as of June 30, 2022. Based on the 
stated assumptions and the projection of cash flows as of each fiscal year ending, each plan’s 
fiduciary net position and future contributions were projected separately and were sufficient to 
finance the future benefit payments of the current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected 
rate of return on insurance plan investments was applied to all periods of the projected benefit 
payments paid from the plan. However, the cost associated with the implicit employer subsidy is 
not currently being included in the calculation of the plan’s actuarially determined contributions, and 
it is our understanding that any cost associated with the implicit subsidy will not be paid out of the 
plan’s trust. Therefore, the municipal bond rate was applied to future expected benefit payments 
associated with the implicit subsidy. 

 
(e) Period of Projected Benefit Payments: Current assets, future contributions, and investment 

earnings are projected to be sufficient to pay the projected benefit payments from the retirement 
system. However, the cost associated with the implicit employer subsidy is not currently being 
included in the calculation of the system’s actuarial determined contributions, and it is the actuary’s 
understanding that any cost associated with the implicit subsidy will not be paid out of the system’s 
trust. Therefore, the municipal bond rate was applied to future expected benefit payments 
associated with the implicit subsidy. 

 
(f) Assumed Asset Allocations: The target asset allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real 

rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table: 
  
  Target Long-Term Expected 
 Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return 
 

 Equity:  60.00% 
    Public  50.00%  4.45%   
  
    Private equity  10.00%  10.15% 
         
  

 Fixed Income:  20.00%   
    Core bonds  10.00%  0.28% 
    Specialty Credit/High Yield  10.00%  2.28% 
    Cash    0.00%     -0.91% 
  

 Inflation Protected:  20.00%  
    Real estate  7.00%  3.67%    
    Real return  13.00%   4.07% 
         Total  100.00%     



TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY 
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/ 

JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT) 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
 

 
(Continued) 

 
34. 

NOTE 8 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN – COST 
SHARING - CERS (Continued) 

 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan assets was established by the KPPA Board 
of Trustees at 6.25% based on a blending of the factors described above. 

 
(g) Sensitivity Analysis: This paragraph requires disclosure of the sensitivity of the net OPEB liability 

to changes in the discount rate and changes in the healthcare cost trend rate.  
 

The following presents TARC’s allocated portion of the net OPEB liability of the System, calculated 
using the discount rate of 5.20%, as well as what TARC’s allocated portion of the System’s net 
OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower 
(4.20%) or 1-percentage-point higher (6.20%) than the current rate for non-hazardous: 
 

   Current 
  1% Decrease  Discount Rate 1% Increase 
   (4.70%)   (5.70%)   (6.70%)  
  
    Net OPEB liability  $ 30,787,194 $ 23,029,818 $ 16,617,053 
 
The following presents TARC’s allocated portion of the net OPEB liability of the System, calculated using 
the healthcare cost trend rate of percent, as well as what the TARC’s allocated portion of the System’s net 
OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a healthcare cost trend rate that is 1-percentage-point 
lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate for non-hazardous: 
 
   Current Healthcare 
  1% Decrease  Cost Trend Rate  1% Increase 
      
      Net OPEB liability  $ 17,122,158 $ 23,029,818 $ 30,123,804 
 
Employer's Portion of the Collective OPEB Liability: TARC's proportionate share of the net OPEB 
liability, as indicated in the prior table, is $23,029,818 or approximately 1.250%. The net OPEB liability was 
distributed based on 2022 actual employer contributions to the plan. TARC’s prior year proportionate share 
of the net OPEB liability was $23,919,189, or approximately 1.250%. 
 
Measurement Date: The total OPEB liability, net OPEB liability, and sensitivity information shown in this 
report are based on an actuarial valuation date of June 30, 2021. The total OPEB liability was rolled-forward 
from the valuation date to the plan’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2022, using generally accepted actuarial 
principles. 
 
Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms: Since the prior measurement date, the demographic and 
economic assumptions that affect the measurement of the total OPEB liability have been updated as 
follows: 

• The discount rate used to calculate the total OPEB liability increased from 5.20% to 5.70%. 
• The assumed increase in future health care costs, or trend assumption, is reviewed on an annual 

basis and was updated (i.e., increased) to better reflect more current expectations relating to 
anticipated future increases in the medical costs. 

 
Changes Since Measurement Date: There were no changes between the measurement date of the 
collective net OPEB liability and the employer's reporting date. 
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35. 

NOTE 8 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN – COST 
SHARING - CERS (Continued) 

 
OPEB Expense: TARC was allocated OPEB expense of $1,440,182 related to the CERS for the year 

ended June 30, 2023. 
 
Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows: Since certain expense items are amortized over closed periods 
each year, the deferred portions of these items must be tracked annually. If the amounts serve to reduce 
OPEB expense they are labeled as deferred inflows. If they will increase OPEB expense they are labeled 
deferred outflows. The amortization of these amounts is accomplished on a level dollar basis, with no 
interest included in the deferred amounts. Experience gains/losses and the impact of changes in actuarial 
assumptions, if any, are amortized over the average remaining service life of the active and inactive System 
members at the beginning of the fiscal year. Investment gains and losses are amortized over a fixed five-
year period. Deferred inflows and outflows as of the Measurement Date include: 
 
   Deferred Deferred 
   Outflows Inflows 
   of Resources of Resources 
 
 Difference between expected and actual experience: $ 2,318,143 $ 5,281,272 
 Change of assumptions:  3,642,327  3,001,256 
 Changes in proportion and differences between employer 
  contributions and proportionate shares of contributions:  51,633  1,996,604 
 Differences between expected and actual investment 
   earnings on plan investments:  934,722  -  
    6,946,825  10,279,132 
 Contributions subsequent to the measurement date:  1,900,185  -  
 
  Total: $ 8,847,010 $10,279,132 
 
Deferred outflows of resources resulting from employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 
of $1,900,185, which includes the implicit subsidy reported of $744,948 will be recognized as a reduction 
of net OPEB liability in the year ending June 30, 2024. The remainder of the deferred outflows and deferred 
inflows of resources are amortized over two to four years with remaining amortization as follows: 
 
 Year ending June 30: 
  2024 $ (686,187) 
  2025  (712,765) 
  2026  (1,748,313) 
  2027  (185,042) 
 
        Total: $ (3,332,307) 
 
OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the OPEB plans' fiduciary net position is 
available in the separately issued CERS OPEB plan financial reports. 
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36. 

NOTE 9 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN – SINGLE EMPLOYER 
 
Benefits Provided: At June 30, 2023, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms: 
 

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 27 
 
All full-time employees, who were employed by TARC prior to September 1, 1991, were eligible to 
participate in the Plan beginning with the first full month of service. Benefits vested after five years of service 
and are based on a monthly rate per year of service with monthly maximum benefits ranging from $710 to 
$890 based on retirement or termination date. Benefit payments are established or may be amended by 
the TARC Pension Board. The Plan also provides death and disability benefits. Effective September 1, 
2019, the Plan elected no annual cost-of-living increases in monthly benefit payments for the Plan’s 
calendar years 2021 and 2022, and no cost-of-living adjustments are expected for the Plan’s calendar years 
2023 through 2026. 
 
Contributions: TARC contributes to the Plan an amount needed to maintain the Plan in a sound condition 
as determined periodically on the basis of an actuarial valuation. Contribution requirements are established 
or may be amended by the TARC Pension Board. Significant actuarial assumptions used to compute 
contribution requirements are the same as those used to compute the pension benefit obligation. 
 
The actuarially determined contribution amount is based upon the sum of gross normal cost-plus funding 
of past service costs over 10 years, less anticipated employee contributions. The actuarially determined 
contribution amount for the 2022 Plan year was $220,829. The Plan recognized $232,990 of employer 
contributions as of December 31, 2022. TARC recognized $220,829 of employer contributions during their 
fiscal year ending June 30, 2023. During their employment with TARC, eligible employees were required 
to contribute an amount per hour that was agreed to in the bargaining agreement.  
 
Employee contributions were determined using the following amounts per hour: 
 
 March 1990 to August 1991:  $ 0.3754 
 September 1991 to December 2004:  $ 0.4254 
 
The final employee eligible to contribute into this Plan retired in 2004; therefore, there were no employee 
contributions to the Plan after that time. 
 
Net Pension Liability: TARC’s net pension liability was measured as of January 1, 2023 and the total 
pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
that date.  
 
Actuarial Assumptions: The total pension liability in the January 1, 2023 actuarial valuation was 
determined used the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
  
 Cost of living adjustment:  0.0% 
 Investment rate of return:  7.0% 
 

• Mortality rates were based on RP-2014 Generational Mortality Tables (Blue Collar) adjusted to 
2006 with projected improvements after year 2006 under Projection Scale MP-2021 (male and 
female scales).  
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37. 

NOTE 9 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN – SINGLE EMPLOYER (Continued) 
 
• The actuarial valuation method was based on the Entry Age Normal Cost Method, with the 

unfunded actuarial liability amortized over 10 years and a future liability changes amortized over 
average expected future lifetime.   

• The asset valuation method based on the market value adjusted for accruals.  
• The provision for expenses based on the replacement of prior year’s expenses paid from the trust. 

 
Changes in Assumptions: Since the prior measurement date, the demographic and economic 
assumptions that affect the measurement of the total pension liability have been updated as described in 
the summary of actuarial assumptions. The changes are noted below: 

 
• The mortality table changed from the RP-2014 Generational Mortality Tables (Blue Collar) adjusted 

to 2006 with projected mortality improvements after year 2006 under Projection Scale MP-2020 
(male and female scales) to the RP-2014 Generational Mortality Tables (Blue Collar) adjusted to 
2006 with projected mortality improvements after year 2006 under Projection Scale MP-2021 (male 
and female scales). 

 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building block 
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of 
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges 
are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates 
of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.  
 
Assumed Asset Allocations: The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for 
each major asset class are summarized in the following table: 
 
   Long-Term Expected 
 Asset Class Target Allocation Real Rate of Return 
 
 Equities:  60% 4.2% 
 Fixed income:          40 2.8% 
 
 Total:          100%  
 
Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. Based on 
projected future contributions, benefit payments and investment returns, the pension plan’s fiduciary net 
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and 
inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was 
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. The projection 
of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that TARC would contribute the actuarially 
determined contribution rate of projected compensation over the remaining 10-year amortization period of 
the unfunded actuarial accrued liability. 
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38. 

NOTE 9 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN – SINGLE EMPLOYER (Continued) 
 
Changes in the Net Pension Liability: 
 
  Increase (Decrease)  
 Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension 
 Liability Net Position Liability 
 (a) (b) (a) – (b) 
 
 Balances at January 1, 2022 $ 1,612,552 $ 1,137,529 $ 475,023 
 Changes for the year: 
  Interest  103,831  -   103,831 
  Differences between expected and 
    actual experience  (181,301)  -   (181,301) 
  Contributions – employer  -   232,990  (232,990) 
  Net investment income  -   (178,987)  178,987 
  Benefit payments, including refunds 
    of employee contributions  (282,007)  (282,007)  -  
  Assumption changes  -   -   -  
  Administrative expenses  -   (25,586)  25,586 
  Net changes  (359,477)  (253,590)  (105,887) 
 
 Balances at December 31, 2022 $ 1,253,075 $ 883,939 $ 369,136 
 
Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate: The following presents the 
net pension liability of TARC, calculated using the discount rate of 7.00%, as well as what TARC’s net 
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower (6.00%) 
or 1-percentage point higher (8.00%) than the current rate: 
 
   Current 
   1% Decrease  Discount Rate 1% Increase 
   (6.00%) (7.00%) (8.00%) 
 
 TARC’s net pension liability:  $ 423,142 $ 369,136 $ 319,516 
   
Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources:  For the year 
ended June 30, 2023, TARC recognized a pension benefit of $341,549 related to the Plan.  
 
At June 30, 2023, TARC reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to the Plan from the following sources: 
 
   Deferred Deferred 
   Outflows Inflows 
   of Resources of Resources 
 Differences between expected and actual investment 
   earnings on plan investments: $ 107,911 $ - 
 
  Total $ 107,911 $ - 
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39. 

NOTE 9 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN – SINGLE EMPLOYER (Continued) 
 
The deferred outflows of resources resulting from the differences between projected and actual investment 
earnings on Plan investments are amortized over a 5-year period with remaining amortization as follows: 
 
 Year ending June 30: 
  2022 $ 15,353 
  2023   5,503 
  2024   21,801 
  2025   30,404 
  2026   34,850 
 
   Total: $ 107,911 
   
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the pension plans' fiduciary net position 
is available in the separately issued audited pension plan financial reports. A copy of the separately issued 
audit report may be requested from the Chief Financial Officer, 1000 W. Broadway, Louisville, KY 40203. 
 
 
NOTE 10 – FIDUCIARY FUND INVESTMENTS 
 
TARC's defined benefit pension plan (Plan) is presented as a fiduciary fund. The Plan is audited separately. 
Information regarding the Plan is included in Note 9. The following disclosures relate to the Plan’s 
investments. 
 
Investment Policy: The Plan’s policy concerning the allocation of invested assets is established and 
may be amended by the Pension Board. The Pension Board’s policy is to pursue an investment strategy 
that reduces risk through the prudent diversification of the portfolio across collective trust funds and money 
market funds. The Plan has reported compliance with this policy, which states that equity type investments 
are permitted but are not to exceed 65% of the total fair value of investments. The policy prohibits the Plan 
from holding unsecured investments in any public company exceeding 5% of the total market value of the 
Plan’s investments. The policy also prohibits the Plan from holding investments in any one specific industry 
exceeding 15% of the total market value of the Plan’s investments. The Plan’s target asset mix is currently 
60% equity and 40% fixed income. 
 
The following table presents the fair values of investments of the Plan’s fiduciary net position: 
 
 2022  
 Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund $  339,154 
 Vanguard 500 Index Fund   543,131 
 Federated Government Obligations Money Market Mutual Fund   5,000 
 
  Total: $  887,285 
 
The Plan's investments (including gains and losses on investments bought and sold, as well as held 
during the year) appreciated (depreciated) in value by $(186,936) in 2022.   
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NOTE 10 – FIDUCIARY FUND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 
Rate of Return: For the year ended December 31, 2022, the annual money-weighted rate of return on 
pension plan investments, net of pension plan investment expense, was (17.58)%. The money-weighted 
rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing 
amounts actually invested. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk: Custodial credit risk for deposits and investments is the risk that, in the event of 
failure by a financial institution, TARC may not be able to recover the value of its deposits and investments 
or collateral securities that are in the possession of the financial institution. TARC's investment policy 
dictates that all cash and investments maintained in any financial institution named as a depository be 
collateralized and the collateral held in the name of TARC. There were no deposits with financial institutions 
at December 31, 2022. 
 
Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates of investments will adversely 
affect the fair value of an investment. TARC's investment policy limits investment maturities as a means of 
managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. The investment policy 
allows the Plan to invest in fixed income type securities to assure an appropriate balance in quality and 
maturity consistent with current money market and economic conditions managing its exposure to fair value 
losses arising from increasing interest rates. At December 31, 2022, the Federated Government Obligations 
Money Market Mutual Fund had a weighted-average maturity of 28 days and the Vanguard Total Bond 
Market Index Fund’s portfolio had a weighted-average maturity of 8.8 years. The Vanguard 500 Index 
Fund’s underlying investments have no maturity date. 
 
Investments are made based upon prevailing market conditions at the time of the transaction. TARC 
reviews its cash and investment needs in order to maintain adequate liquidity to meet its cash flow needs. 
Assets categorized as short-term operating funds will be invested in investments maturing in 12 months or 
less. 
 
Credit Risk: Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its 
obligations. Investments are made under the 'prudent investor' standard to ensure that (a) due diligence is 
exercised in accordance with State law, (b) any negative deviations are reported timely and (c) reasonable 
action is taken to control any adverse developments. TARC's investment policy requires investment in 
instruments authorized in KRS 66.480(a)-(d). The Federated Government Obligations Money Market 
Mutual Fund received a rating of AAAm by Standard & Poor’s. The Vanguard Total Bond Market Index 
Fund and the Vanguard 500 Index Fund did not receive ratings as they are mutual funds. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk: TARC's investment policy requires diversification of the overall portfolio to 
eliminate the risk of loss from an over-concentration of assets in a specific class of security, a specific 
maturity, and/or a specific issuer. 
 
Foreign Currency Risk: Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely 
impact the fair value of an investment. TARC is not exposed to this risk and its investment policy does not 
provide for investments in foreign currency denominated securities. 
 
Fair Value Measurement: TARC categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy 
established by GAAP. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the 
asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant 
other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. 
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NOTE 10 – FIDUCIARY FUND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 
The asset or liability's fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest 
level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation techniques used need to 
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
The Plan has the following recurring fair value measurements as of December 31, 2022: 
 

• Publicly traded mutual funds of $882,285 are valued using prices quoted for identical assets in 
active markets (Level 1 inputs); 

• Money market mutual funds of $5,000 are valued using a matrix pricing model (Level 2 inputs). 
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 2022  2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 
Total pension liability  
  Interest $ 103,831 $ 126,942 $ 148,006 $ 193,057 $ 226,086 $ 250,828 $ 270,473 $ 286,547 
   Differences between expected and 
   actual experience  (181,301)  (157,801)  (55,835)  (189,015)  (170,890)  30,844  9,170  (192,112) 
   Changes of assumptions  -   5,218  (20,055)  (201,128)  (7,517)  (48,849)  87,324  356,697 
   Benefit payments  (282,007)  (323,551)  (414,905)  (473,229)  (558,697)  (609,620)  (679,756)  (738,404) 
    Net change in total pension liability  (359,477)  (349,192)  (342,789)  (670,315)  (511,018)  (376,797)  (312,789)  (287,272) 
 
 Total pension liability, beginning  1,612,552  1,961,744  2,304,533  2,974,848  3,485,866  3,862,663  4,175,452  4,462,724 
 
Total pension liability, ending $ 1,253,075 $ 1,612,552 $ 1,961,744 $ 2,304,533 $ 2,974,848 $ 3,485,866 $ 3,862,663 $ 4,175,452 
 
Plan fiduciary net position 
   Employer contributions $ 232,990 $ 276,040 $ 289,128 $ 595,256 $ 461,850 $ 438,954 $ 438,660 $ 419,912 
   Net investment income  (178,987)  165,433  109,159  132,004  3,683  127,536  77,165  (19,825) 
 Benefit payments  (282,007)  (323,551)  (414,905)  (473,229)  (558,697)  (609,620)  (679,756)  (738,404) 
   Administrative expense  (25,586)  (35,090)  (32,762)  (21,602)  (56,761)  (63,697)  (45,405)  (44,274) 
 Net change in plan  
    fiduciary net position  (253,590)  82,832  (49,380)  232,429  (149,925)  (106,827)  (209,336)  (382,591) 
 
Plan fiduciary net position, beginning  1,137,529  1,054,697  1,104,077  871,648  1,021,573  1,128,400  1,337,736  1,720,327 
 
Plan fiduciary net position, ending  883,939  1,137,529  1,054,697  1,104,077  871,648  1,021,573  1,128,400  1,337,736 
 
TARC’s net pension liability, ending $ 369,136 $ 475,023 $ 907,047 $ 1,200,456 $ 2,103,200 $ 2,464,293 $ 2,734,263 $ 2,837,716 
 
Plan fiduciary net position as a 
  percentage of the total pension liability 70.54%  70.54%         53.76% 47.91%  29.30%  29.31%  29.21%  32.04% 
 
 
Notes to Schedule 
 
The amounts presented for each plan year were reported by the employer in the subsequent year’s June 30 reporting period. 
 
There was no covered employee payroll during the ten-year period, so the net pension liability as a percentage of covered employee payroll is not applicable. 
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     2014 2013 
Total pension liability 
 Interest     $ 322,907 $ 358,885  
 Changes in benefit terms         230,905  
 Differences between expected and  
   actual experience      (116,612)  (267,436)  
 Changes in assumptions      9,687  10,794  
 Benefit payments      (799,005)  (903,997)  
  Net change in total pension liability     (583,023)  (570,849)  
 
 Total pension liability, beginning      5,045,747  5,616,596  
 
Total pension liability, ending     $ 4,462,724 $ 5,045,747  
 
Plan fiduciary net position 
 Employer contributions     $ 468,338 $ 239,000  
 Net investment income       171,041  373,829  
 Benefit payments      (799,005)  (903,997)  
 Administrative expense      (59,466)  (49,656)  
  Net change in plan fiduciary net position     (219,092)  (340,824)  
 
Plan fiduciary net position, beginning     1,939,419  2,280,243  
 
Plan fiduciary net position, ending     1,720,327 $ 1,939,419  
 
TARC’s net pension liability, ending    $ 2,742,397 $ 3,106,328  
 
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension liability    38.55%  38.44%  
 
Notes to Schedule 
 
The amounts presented for each plan year were reported by the employer in the subsequent year’s June 30 reporting period. 
 
There was no covered employee payroll during the ten-year period, so the net pension liability as a percentage of covered employee payroll is not applicable. 
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 2022  2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015  
  
Actuarially determined contribution $ 220,928 $ 261,750 $ 274,110 $ 423,330 $ 437,941 $ 438,954 $ 426,241 $ 419,912 
 
Contributions in relation to the  
  actuarially determined  
  contribution  232,990  276,040  289,128  595,256  461,850  438,954  438,660  419,912 
 
Annual contribution deficiency 
  (excess) $ (12,062) $ (14,290) $ (15,018) $ (171,926) $ (23,909) $ - $ (12,419) $ - 
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        2014 2013 
 
Actuarially determined contribution              $ 468,337 $ 359,326 
 
Contributions in relation to the actuarially 
  determined contribution               239,000  50,000 
 
Annual Contribution deficiency (excess)             $ 120,326 $ 327,600 
 
 
Notes to Schedule 
 
There was no covered employee payroll during the ten-year period, so amounts of contributions recognized by the pension plan in relation to the 
actuarially determined contribution as a percentage of covered-employee payroll is not applicable. 
 
TARC’s fiscal year contributions agree to the pension plan’s calendar year contributions, as all contributions to the pension plan are only made during the 
last six months of the pension plan’s calendar year, which is the first six months of TARC’s fiscal year. 
 
Valuation Date: January 1, 2023 
Actuarial Cost Method: Entry age normal cost method 
Amortization Method: Level Dollar 
Remaining Amortization Period: 4 years 
Asset Valuation Method: Market value less accrued expenses 
Inflation: 0.00% 
Salary Increases: Not applicable, as all beneficiaries are retired and the plan is closed to new entrants. 
Investment Rate of Return: 7.00% 
Retirement Age: Not applicable, as all beneficiaries are retired and the plan is closed to new entrants. 
Mortality: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Tables (Blue Collar) adjusted to 2006 with protected mortality improvements 

after year 2006 under protection scale MP-2021 (male and female scales) 
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  2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 
 
Annual money-weighted rate of  
  return, net of investment expenses  (17.58)% 16.89% 11.54% 18.20% (0.44%) 13.45% 7.03% (3.66%) 9.71% 19.07% 
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  2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 
 
 
TARC’s proportion of the net pension  
  liability 1.17% 1.250% 1.251% 1.320% 1.307% 1.309% 1.311% 1.280% 
   
TARC’s proportionate  
  share of the net pension $ 84,372,925 $ 79,711,204 $ 95,946,369 $ 92,870,861 $ 79,592,001 $ 76,614,117 $ 64,540,703 $ 55,052,957 
 
TARC’s covered payroll $ 32,256,226 $ 31,768,572 $ 32,008,931 $ 33,820,338 $ 32,758,156 $ 32,089,620 $ 31,443,315 $ 30,004,788 
 
TARC’s proportion of the net pension 
  liability as a percentage on its  
  covered payroll 261.571% 250.912% 299.749% 274.601% 242.969% 238.750% 205.260% 183.481% 
 
Plan fiduciary net position as a 
  percentage of the total pension  
  liability 52.418% 57.328% 47.814% 50.447% 53.542% 53.325% 55.503% 59.968% 
 
The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the year-end that occurred one year prior. 
 
This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, TARC is presenting information for those years 
for which information is available. 
 
Note: There were no changes from 2022 to 2023. 
 
Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms from 2020 to 2021: Since the prior measurement date, there were no changes in assumptions, however benefit terms were updated, which 
did not have a material impact on the total pension liability. The monthly payment to a surviving spouse of a member whose death was due to a duty-related injury upon remarriage of 
the spouse was reduced. Benefits were increased for a small number of beneficiaries. 
 
Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms from 2019 to 2020: Since the prior measurement date, annual salary increases were updated based on the 2018 Experience Study; annual 
rates of retirement, disability, withdrawal, and mortality were updated based on the 2018 Experience Study; the percent of disabilities assumed to occur in the line of duty was updated 
from 0% to 2% for non-hazardous members and 50% for hazardous members; the assumed increase in future health care costs, or trend assumption, is reviewed on an annual basis 
and was updated (i.e. increased) to better reflect more current expectations relating to anticipated future increases in the medical costs for post-age 65 retirees; and the assumed impact 
of the Cadillac Tax was changed from a 3.6% to a 0.9% load on employer paid premiums for non-Medicare retirees who became participants prior to July 1, 2003 
 
Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms from 2018 to 2019: Since the prior measurement date, there have been no changes in actuarial assumptions. However, during the 2018 
legislative session, House Bill 185 was enacted, which updated the benefit provisions for active members who die in the line of duty. Benefits paid to the spouses of deceased members 
have been increased from 25% of the member’s final rate of pay to 75% of the member’s average pay. If the member does not have a surviving spouse, benefits paid to surviving 
dependent children have been increased from 10% of the member’s final pay rate to 50% of average pay for one child, 65% of average pay for two children, or 75% of average pay for 
three children. The TPL as of June 30, 2018 was determined using these updated benefit provisions. 
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Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms from 2017 to 2018: Since the prior measurement date, the demographic and economic assumptions that affect the measurement of the total 
pension liability have been updated as described: (i) the assumed investment rate of return was decreased from 7.50% to 6.25%, (ii) the assumed rate of inflation was reduced from 
3.25% to 2.30%, and (iii) payroll growth assumption was reduced from 4.00% to 2.00%. 
 
Note: There were no changes from 2016 to 2017. 
 
Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms from 2015 to 2016: Since the prior measurement date, the demographic and economic assumptions that affect the measurement of the total 
pension liability have been updated as described: (i) the assumed investment rate of return was decreased from 7.75% to7.50%, (ii) the assumed rate of inflation was reduced from 
3.50% to 3.25%, (iii) the assumed rate of wage inflation was reduced from 1.00% to 0.75%, (iv) payroll growth assumption was reduced from 4.50% to 4.00%, (v) the mortality table used 
for active members is RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 (multiplied by 50% for males and 30% for females). For healthy retired members and 
beneficiaries, the mortality table used is the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set back 1 year for females). For disabled members, the RP-2000 
Combined Disabled Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set back 4 years for males) is used for the period after disability retirement. There is some margin in the current 
mortality tables for possible future improvement in mortality rates and that margin will be reviewed again when the next experience investigation is conducted, and (vi) the assumed rates 
of retirement, withdrawal and disability were updated to reflect experience more accurately.
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 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 
 
Statutorily required contribution $ 7,974,205 $ 6,867,675 $ 6,151,942 $ 6,192,956 $ 5,416,203 $ 4,720,629 $ 4,476,502 $ 3,905,260 
Contributions in relation to the  
  statutorily required contribution   7,974,205  6,867,675  6,151,942  (6,192,956)  (5,416,203)  (4,720,629)  (4,476,502)  (3,905,260) 
 
Annual contribution deficiency (excess) $ -  $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - 
 
TARC’s contributions as a percentage  
  of statutorily required contribution for  
  pension    100%  100%  100%  100%  100%  100%  100%  100% 
 
TARC’s covered payroll $ 33,034,069 $ 32,256,226 $31,768,572 $  32,008,931 $ 33,820,338 $ 32,758,156 $ 32,089,620 $ 31,443,315 
  
Contributions as a percentage 
  of its covered payroll   24,139%  21.291%  19.365%   19.348%  16.015%  14.411%  13.950%  12.420% 
 
This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, TARC is presenting information for those years 
for which information is available. 
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   2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 
 
TARC’s proportion of the net OPEB liability     
 Non-hazardous     1.167% 1.250% 1.251% 1.320% 1.307% 
 
TARC’s proportionate share of  
  the net OPEB liability       $ 23,029,818 $ 23,929,189 $ 30,198,452 $ 22,204,681 $ 23,202,276 
 
TARC’s covered payroll        $ 32,256,226 $ 31,768,572 $ 32,008,931 $ 33,820,338 $ 32,758,156 
 
TARC’s proportion of the net OPEB liability 
  as a percentage   of its covered payroll     71.397% 75.323% 94.344% 65.655% 70.829% 
  
Plan fiduciary net position  
  as a percentage of the total OPEB liability     60.948% 62.907% 51.670% 60.438% 57.622% 
 
The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the year end that occurred one year prior.  
 
This is a 10-year schedule. However, the information in this schedule is not required to be presented retroactively. Years will be added to this schedule in future fiscal years until 10 
years of information is available. 
 
Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms from 2021 to 2022: Since the prior measurement date, the discount rate used to calculate the total OPEB liability decreased from 5.34% to 
5.20%; and the assumed increase in future health care costs, or trend assumption, was updated (i.e., increased) to better reflect more current expectations relating to anticipated future 
increases in the medical costs. 
 
Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms from 2020 to 2021: Since the prior measurement date, the discount rate used to calculate the total OPEB liability decreased from 5.68% to 
5.34%, the assumed increase in future health care costs, or trend assumption, is reviewed on an annual basis and was updated (i.e. increased) to better reflect more current expectations 
relating to anticipated future increases in the medical costs, and the actuarial information has been updated to reflect anticipated savings from the repeal of the “Cadillac Tax” and “Health 
Insurer Fee”, which occurred in December 2019 
 
Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms from 2019 to 2020: Since the prior measurement date, annual salary increases were updated based on the 2018 Experience Study; annual 
rates of retirement, disability, withdrawal, and mortality were updated based on the 2018 Experience Study; the percent of disabilities assumed to occur in the line of duty was updated 
from 0% to 2% for non-hazardous members and 50% for hazardous members; the assumed increase in future health care costs, or trend assumption, is reviewed on an annual basis 
and was updated (i.e. increased) to better reflect more current expectations relating to anticipated future increases in the medical costs for post-age 65 retirees; and the assumed impact 
of the Cadillac Tax was changed from a 3.6% to a 0.9% load on employer paid premiums for non-Medicare retirees who became participants prior to July 1, 2003 
 
Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms from 2018 to 2019: Since the prior measurement date, there have been no changes in actuarial assumptions. However, during the 2018 
legislative session, House Bill 185 was enacted, which updated the benefit provisions for active members who die in the line of duty. Benefits paid to the spouses of deceased members 
have been increased from 25% of the member's final rate of pay to 75% of the member's average pay. If the member does not have a surviving spouse, benefits paid to surviving 
dependent children have been increased from 10% of the member's final pay rate to 50% of average pay for one child, 65% of average pay for two children, or 75% of average pay for 
three children. The TPL as of June 30, 2018 was determined using these updated benefit provisions. 
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 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 
 
Statutorily required contribution $ 1,155,237 $ 1,875,067 $ 1,517,267 $ 1,527,382 $ 1,756,426 
 
Contributions in relation to the   
  statutorily required contribution  (1,155,237)  (1,875,067)  (1,517,267)  (1,527,382)  (1,756,426) 
 
Annual contribution deficiency (excess) $ -  $ - $ - $ - $ - 
 
TARC’s contributions as a percentage of 
  statutorily required contribution for pension     100%  100% 100% 100% 100% 
 
TARC’s covered payroll $ 33,034,069 $ 32,256,226 $ 31,768,572 $ 32,008,931 $ 33,820,338 
  
Contributions as a percentage of  
  its covered payroll    3.497%  5.813% 4.776% 4.772% 5.193% 
 
This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, TARC is 
presenting information for those years for which information is available. 
 

 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 



TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY 
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT) 

 
 
 

51. 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION – 
BUDGET TO ACTUAL 

Year ended June 30, 2023 
 

 

 
 
 
The operating budget for 2023, as shown above, represents the originally adopted budget for TARC. No 
amendments were made to the budget during the year ended June 30, 2023. Pension and OPEB actuarial 
valuation changes are not budgeted. 
 

Actual to Actual
GAAP Amounts

Budget Actual Differences GAAP Basis
Operating revenues
Passenger transportation 5,305,786$         5,927,630$       -$               5,927,630$       
Special transit fares 1,535,891           1,626,012         -                 1,626,012        
Advertising 650,000              650,000           -                 650,000           
Interest -                     269,396           -                 269,396           
Charter Service -                     -                  -                 -                  
Other Revenue 213,300              299,809           -                 299,809           
Recoveries 50,000               113,119           113,119           

Total operating revenues 7,754,977           8,885,966         -                 8,885,966        

Operating expenses
Labor 31,366,902         32,534,202       -                 32,534,202       
Fringe benefits, budget basis 31,510,122         30,473,947       -                 30,473,947       
Plus: pension adjustments -                     -                  (5,134,258)      (5,134,258)       
Plus: OPEB adjustments -                     -                  1,440,182       1,440,182        

Total labor, fringe benefits, pension and OPEB 62,877,024         63,008,149       (3,694,076)      59,314,073       

Services 6,713,100           5,618,683         5,618,683        
Development costs 861,993              751,527           751,527           
Materials and supplies 7,440,936           6,587,012         6,587,012        
Utilities 1,035,600           1,079,278         1,079,278        
Casualty and insurance 3,413,070           2,586,613         2,586,613        
Miscellaneous 921,770              424,307           424,307           
Rentals and purchased transportation 20,541,764         16,130,617       16,130,617       
Interest 2,660                 2,220               2,220               
Loss on disposal -                     83,812             83,812             
Depreciation 12,823,959         11,786,495       11,786,495       

Total operating expenses 116,631,876       108,058,713     (3,694,076)      104,364,637     

Operating loss before capital outlay and subsidies (108,876,899)      (99,172,747)      3,694,076       (95,478,671)      

Capital outlay

Subsidies
Mass Transit Trust Fund and interest 67,696,852         62,740,051       -                 62,740,051       
Federal Transit Administration and Pass-Through Entities 61,523,721         34,127,467       -                 34,127,467       
KIPDA and Other 1,276,642           2,088,910         -                 2,088,910        

Total subsidies 130,497,215       98,956,428       -                 98,956,428       

Change in net position 21,620,316$       (216,319)$         3,694,076$      3,477,757$       



 

 
See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards. 
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SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 
Year ended June 30, 2023 

 
 
 
  Assistance  
  Listing Grant Number for Federal 
 Federal Grantor/Program or Cluster Title Number Pass-Through Expenditures 
 
Department of Transportations 
  Federal Transit Administration 
 Direct Programs: 
  Federal Transit Cluster: 
   Capital and Operating Assistance 
      Formula Grants 20.507  $ 8,582,691 
   COVID 19 – Formula Grants – ARP Act 20.507   9,680,087 
   COVID 19 – Formula Grants – CRRSA Act 20.507   12,130,863 
   Bus and Bus Facilities Formula Program 20.526   2,081,022 
    Total Federal Transit Cluster    32,474,663 
 
  Transit Services Cluster: 
   Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and 
      Individuals with Disabilities 20.513   1,531,236 
    Total Transit Services Cluster    1,531,236 
 
  Public Transportation Research, 
    Technical Assistance and Training 20.514             121,568 
 
 Pass-Through Programs:  
  Kentucky Transportation Cabinet – Highway 
     Planning and Construction Cluster 20.205   488,110 
 
 
Total Expenditures of Federal Awards   $ 34,615,577 
 
 
The following shows subrecipient activity for the year: 
 
 Assistance 
 Listing 
 Number Amount 
 
 20.507 $ 354,811 
 20.513  774,450 
 
      Total subrecipient activity $ 1,129,261 
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NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 
June 30, 2023 

 
 
 
NOTE 1 – BASIS OF PRESENTATION  
 
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards presents the activity of all federal financial 
assistance programs received by the Transit Authority of River City (TARC). TARC’s reporting entity is 
defined in Note 1 to the audited financial statements. 
 
 
NOTE 2 – BASIS OF ACCOUNTING3 
 
The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the "Schedule") includes the federal award 
activity of TARC under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2023. The 
information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of 
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected 
portion of the operations of TARC, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes 
in net assets, or cash flows of TARC.  
 
TARC has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimus indirect cost rate as allowed under the Uniform 
Guidance.  
 
Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures 
are recognized following, as applicable, either the Cost Principles for State and Local Governments or the 
cost principles contained in Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, wherein certain types of 
expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. 
 
 
  



 

 
(Continued) 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND 

ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
Board of Directors 
Transit Authority of River City 
Louisville, Kentucky 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the business-type 
activities of Transit Authority of River City (TARC), a component unit of Louisville/Jefferson County Metro 
Government, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023 and the fiduciary activities as of and for the year 
ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise 
TARC’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated <>. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered TARC's internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of TARC’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of TARC’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s 
financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. 
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters  
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether TARC's financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed 
no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
 

 Crowe LLP 
 
Louisville, Kentucky 
<> 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM; 
REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE; AND REPORT ON THE SCHEDULE OF 

EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 
 
 
 
Board of Directors 
Transit Authority of River City 
Louisville, Kentucky 
 
 
Report on Compliance for Major Federal Program 
 
Opinion on Major Federal Program 
 
We have audited Transit Authority of River City’s (TARC) compliance with the types of compliance 
requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and 
material effect on TARC’s major federal program for the year ended June 30, 2023. TARC’s major federal 
program is identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings 
and questioned costs. 
 
In our opinion, TARC complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to above 
that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal program for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
Basis for Opinion on Major Federal Program 
 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing 
Standards); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 
Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in 
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 
 
We are required to be independent of TARC and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for the major federal program. 
Our audit does not provide a legal determination of TARC’s compliance with the compliance requirements 
referred to above.  
 
Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of 
laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to TARC’s 
federal programs. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion 
on TARC’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not 
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, 
Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance 
when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is 
considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would 
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about TARC’s compliance 
with the requirements of the major federal program as a whole. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance, we 
 

• exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

• identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding TARC’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to 
above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

 
• obtain an understanding of TARC’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order 

to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on 
internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of TARC’s internal control over compliance. 
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that we identified during the audit.  
 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, 
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not 
be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type 
of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal 
control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies 
in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not 
identified. 
 
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control 
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.  
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The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing 
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform 
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities of TARC as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2023, the fiduciary activities of TARC as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022, 
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise TARC’s basic financial 
statements. We issued our report thereon dated <>, which contained an unmodified opinion on those 
financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial 
statements that collectively comprise the basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform 
Guidance and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility 
of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used 
to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other 
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all material 
respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 

 
 
 

 Crowe LLP 
 
Louisville, Kentucky 
<> 
 
 



TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF RIVER CITY 
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF LOUISVILLE/JEFFERSON COUNTY METRO GOVERNMENT) 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
Year ended June 30, 2023 
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SECTION I – SUMMARY OF AUDITORS’ RESULTS 
 
Financial Statements 

      

Type of auditors’ report issued  Unmodified     
       
Internal control over financial reporting:       
      Material weakness(es) identified?   Yes  X No 
       
    Significant deficiency identified not   
   considered to be material weaknesses? 

  
 

 
Yes 

  
X 

None 
Reported 

       
Noncompliance material to financial   
 statements noted? 

  
 

 
Yes 

  
X 

 
No 

       
Federal Awards       
Internal control over major programs:       
      Material weakness(es) identified?   Yes  X No 
        
      Significant deficiency identified not   
 considered to be material weakness(es)? 

  
 

 
Yes 

  
 X      

None 
Reported 

       
Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for 
 major programs 

  
Unmodified 

   
 

 

       
 Any audit findings disclosed that are 
 required to be reported in accordance with  
  2CFR200.516(a)? 

  
 
 

 
 
Yes 

  
 

X 

 
 
No 

 
Identification of major programs: 

Assistance Listing Numbers   Name of Federal Program or Cluster Number 
   

  Total Federal Transit Cluster consisting of:  
20.507   Formula Grants 
20.526   Bus and Bus Facilities Formula Program 

   
   

 
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
 Type A and Type B programs $ 1,038,467   
   
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?   Yes     X   No 

 
SECTION 2 – FINDINGS RELATED TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS THAT ARE REQUIRED TO BE 
REPORTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
There were no findings for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
 
SECTION 3 – FEDERAL AWARDS FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS  
 
There were no findings for the year ended June 30, 2023. 



 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To: TARC Board of Directors 
 
From: Carrie Butler, Executive Director 
 
Date: September 26, 2023 
 
Re: Resolution 2023 - 24 Award of Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with 

Disabilities Section 5310 Program Funds 
 

 
TARC, in its role as the designated recipient for the Louisville Urbanized Area for Enhanced Mobility 
of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities (Section 5310) funds, undertakes a process to award 
these federal formula funds to subrecipients. TARC has undertaken a competitive selection and 
award process for the past nine years for these funds. This year there are $1,433,855 available 
from the Federal Fiscal Year (FFY) 2023 apportionment. There are no funds remaining from the 
Section 5310 apportionment from FFY 2022. 
 
TARC has consistently followed a competitive selection process to solicit project applications and 
award the funds ensuring that the process is fair and allows for full and open competition. The 
deadline for applications for this funding was June 29, 2023. Nine applicants applied for funds. The 
applications were evaluated on July 11, 2023 by an independent, impartial Selection Review 
Committee comprised of five community members with no material interest in any of the proposed 
projects. They used evaluation criteria previously developed by TARC and the Regional Mobility 
Council. 
 
A total of nine applicants were awarded funding. Regarding the projects that qualified in the 
Section 5310 “Traditional” category, the Selection Review Committee recommended fully funding 
four of the projects and partially funding two of the projects, resulting in an award of $790,166 or 
55 percent of the total, which meets the federal requirement that at least 55 percent of Section 
5310 funds must be awarded in the “Traditional” category. Regarding the projects that qualified 
in the Section 5310 “Other” category, the Selection Review Committee recommended partially 
funding three of the projects, resulting in an award of $643,689 in “Other” funds.   
 
The nine successful applicants will become subrecipients of the federal funds. The subrecipients 
provide local matching funds. Capital purchases will have a 20% local match, and operating 
expenses will have a 50% local match. A total of $1,433,855 of federal Section 5310 funds is 
recommended for award at this time. The attached resolution seeks authority for the Executive 
Director to award the Section 5310 funds to the successful applicants and enter into a subrecipient 
agreement as outlined in the resolution and detailed in the Appendix. 
 
Please call me at 502-561-5100 with any questions. 
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RESOLUTION 2023 - 24 
Award of Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities 
Section 5310 funds 
 

A resolution approving the award of Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities 
Section 5310 program funds as set out below, and authorizing the Executive Director to enter into 
subrecipient agreements with the recommended subrecipients of these funds. 

 

WHEREAS, TARC has been named the Designated Recipient of Enhanced Mobility of Seniors 
and Individuals with Disabilities Section 5310 funds for the Louisville Urbanized Area by the 
Governors of the States of Kentucky and Indiana, and; 

WHEREAS, in its role as Designated Recipient, TARC has conducted a competitive selection 
process, and; 

WHEREAS, each project recommended for funding was derived from priorities set forth in the 
Coordinated Human Services Transportation Plan for the KIPDA Region, and; 

WHEREAS, each project was selected for funding through a process that ensured open 
competition, and; 

WHEREAS, an impartial Selection Review Committee scored all eligible applications using 
evaluation criteria established by TARC in conjunction with the Regional Mobility Council; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Transit Authority of River 
City that the federal funds from the Federal Fiscal Year 2023 apportionment for Enhanced Mobility 
of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities Section 5310, which were allocated to the Louisville 
Urbanized Area in the total amount of $1,433,855, be distributed as follows:  

• $122,400 to Cedar Lake Residences for the Transportation of Individuals with Disabilities 
Project 

• $125,200 to Dreams with Wings for the Dreams with Wings Fleet Expansion Project 
• $198,693 to Harbor House of Louisville for the Breaking Down Barriers Project 
• $197,473 to Lifespan Resources for the Lifespan Resources Transportation Project 
• $68,600 to Park DuValle Community Health Center for the PDCHC Transportation Services 

Expansion Project 
• $15,200 to Rauch, Inc. for the Improved Transportation for Adults with Disabilities Project 
• $300,504 to Transit Authority of River City for the Suburban Work Trips for Paratransit 

Customers Outside of the ADA Service Area Project 
• $65,600 to Volunteers of America for the Upward Mobility Project 
• $196,800 to Ztrip for the Wheelchair Van Project 

 
…continued…. 



    

TARC Board of Directors Meeting  September 2023 

 
 
 
The Executive Director/CEO is hereby authorized to enter into agreements with Cedar Lake 
Residences; Dreams with Wings; Harbor House of Louisville; Lifespan Resources; Park DuValle 
Community Health Center; Rauch, Inc.; Volunteers of America; and Ztrip for the work outlined in 
their project applications.  
 
 
The Executive Director/CEO is authorized to file and execute a grant application on behalf of the 
Transit Authority of River City with the U.S. Department of Transportation to fund the projects listed 
above. 
 
 
ADOPTED THIS 26TH DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2023 

  
 
Chair of the Board of Directors 
 
 
  



 

APPENDIX 
 
Section 5310 “Traditional” funds 
 
Eligible subrecipients for Section 5310 “Traditional” funds include:  private nonprofit organizations; 
and state or local governmental authorities that are approved by a state to coordinate services for 
seniors and individuals with disabilities when it is certified that there are no nonprofit organizations 
readily available in the area to provide the service. TARC is not eligible for an award of Section 
5310 “Traditional” funds, since many nonprofit organizations that provide service are available in 
our urbanized area. However, TARC is eligible for funds in the Section 5310 “Other” category. 
 
Federal law requires that at least 55% of the Section 5310 funds awarded must be awarded for 
Section 5310 “Traditional” projects.  “Traditional” projects are capital transportation projects 
(including but not limited to vehicle replacement, fleet expansion, and capital maintenance) that 
are designed and planned to meet the specific needs of seniors and individuals with disabilities 
when public transportation is insufficient, unavailable, or inappropriate.  
 
 
Section 5310 “Other” funds 
 
Eligible subrecipients for Section 5310 “Other” funds include: private nonprofit organizations; state 
or local governmental authorities; and for-profit operators of public transportation that are 
providing shared-ride service.  
 
Up to 45% of the Section 5310 funds that are awarded may be awarded in the “Other” category 
(including capital expenses and operating expenses) for public transportation projects designed 
and planned to meet the specific needs of seniors and individuals with disabilities. These projects 
must: (1) exceed the ADA minimum requirements; or (2) improve access to fixed-route service 
and decrease reliance by individuals with disabilities on ADA-complementary paratransit service; 
or (3) provide alternatives to public transportation that assist seniors and individuals with 
disabilities with transportation when public transportation is insufficient, inappropriate, or 
unavailable.  
 
 
Funds available 
 
The amount of federal Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities Section 5310 
funds available for award through TARC’s current competitive selection process is $1,433,855 
from the Federal Fiscal Year 2023 apportionment. There were no funds remaining from the 
Section 5310 apportionment from Federal Fiscal Year 2022. 
  
A total of $1,433,855 is available for award for projects in the Section 5310 “Traditional” category.  
 
The amount of Section 5310 funds available for award for projects in the Section 5310 “Other” 
category is 45% of the total amount of Section 5310 funds actually awarded for all projects.  
 
All subrecipients of Section 5310 federal funds are providing local matching funds. (Capital 
purchases have a 20% local match and Operating expenses have a 50% local match.) 
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Funds awarded 
 
The total amount of “Traditional” Section 5310 funds that were available for award this year was 
$1,433,855. The total amount of “Traditional” funds requests received was $1,259,185. The total 
amount of “Traditional” funds that the Selection Review Committee recommended for award is 
$790,166, which is 55.1% of the of the total Section 5310 funds (“Traditional” plus “Other”) that 
were awarded this time. That meets the federal requirement that at least 55% of the funds must 
be awarded in the “Traditional” category. 
 
The total amount of all Section 5310 “Other” funds that were available for award was $645,234. 
The total amount of “Other” funds requests received was $1,316,960.  The total amount of Section 
5310 “Other” funds that the Selection Review Committee recommended for award is $643,689. 
 
The total amount of Section 5310 funds recommended for award this time is $1,433,855 of the 
$1,433,855 available. This uses up all of the federal Section 5310 funds available for award at 
this time. There will be no leftover Section 5310 funds to be carried over to next year.  
 
 
Funding recommendations for Section 5310 “Traditional” projects: 
 
$122,400 to Cedar Lake Residences for the Transportation of Individuals with Disabilities 
Project to purchase one (1) one ADA-wheelchair-accessible minivan and (1) Standard 12-
passenger van (not wheelchair accessible). The project will provide transportation for seniors 
and individuals disabilities in Louisville and La Grange, Kentucky. 
(Federal funds = $122,400   Local match = $30,600 Total project value = $153,000)  
 
 $125,200 to Dreams with Wings for the Dreams with Wings Fleet Expansion project to purchase 
one (1) ADA-Accessible Minivan; and one (1) non-ADA-accessible Standard 12-passenger Van 
with Extended Warranty. The project will provide fixed route and on-demand transportation 
service in Jefferson County for individuals with disabilities to get to day training programs, jobs, 
and medical appointments.  
(Federal funds = $125,200   Local match = $31,300 Total project value = $156,500)  
 
$198,693 to Harbor House of Louisville for the Breaking Down Barriers Project to purchase two 
(2) ADA-Accessible Full-Size vans with Enhanced HVAC and All-Wheel-Drive. In addition, one 
(1) ADA-Accessible Full Size van with Enhanced HVAC and All-Wheel-Drive will be purchased 
with these funds along with insurance proceeds to replace the totaled van with VIN ending in 
…5058; and seven (7) dispatch radios. The project will provide transportation for individuals with 
developmental and intellectual disabilities to and from Harbor House, to medical appointments, 
and other necessary trips. 
(Federal funds = $198,693        Local match = $49,673        Total project value = $248,366)  
 
$197,473 to Lifespan Resources for the Lifespan Resources Transportation project to purchase 
two (2) ADA-Accessible Full Size vans with Enhanced HVAC and All-Wheel-Drive, fog lights, 
and automatic sliding door. In addition, one (1) ADA-Accessible Full Size van with Enhanced 
HVAC and All-Wheel-Drive, fog lights, and automatic sliding door will be purchased with these 
funds along with insurance proceeds to replace the totaled van with VIN ending in …5057. The 
project will provide transportation for individuals with disabilities to and from day services and 
work programs. The vehicles will also provide on-demand transportation for seniors and 
individuals with disabilities for medical trips, including critical care trips such as dialysis, and  
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chemotherapy, as well as trips to the grocery, senior center, library, and post office, with an 
emphasis on serving low income residents.   
(Federal funds = $197,473   Local match = $49,368 Total project value = $246,841) 
 
$65,600 to Park DuValle Community Health Center for the PDCHC Transportation Services 
Expansion Project to purchase one (1) ADA-Accessible wheelchair Minivan. The project will 
provide transportation service in Jefferson County for seniors and individuals with disabilities to 
get to medical appointments at the Wilson Avenue clinic of the Park DuValle Community Health 
Center in Louisville, KY. 
(Federal funds = $65,600   Local match = $16,400 Total project value = $82,000)  
 
$15,200 to Rauch, Inc. for the Improved Transportation for Adults with Disabilities Project 
 project to purchase one (1) ADA-Accessible wheelchair Minivan which will be purchased with 
these funds along with insurance proceeds to replace the totaled van with VIN ending in 
…6486.  The project will transport individuals with disabilities to work, doctor appointments, 
shopping, community activities, entertainment, dining, and volunteer opportunities. 
(Federal funds = $15,200   Local match = $3,800  Total project value = $19,000) 
 
$65,600 to Volunteers of America for the Upward Mobility project to purchase one (1) ADA-
wheelchair-accessible Minivan. The project will transport seniors and individuals with 
developmental and physical disabilities to medical care appointments, recreation, and 
participation in the community, including enrichment activities. 
(Federal funds = $65,600 Local match = $16,400 Total project value = $82,000)  
 
 
Funding recommendations for Section 5310 “Other” projects: 
 
$3,000 to Park DuValle Community Health Center for the PDCHC Transportation Services 
Expansion Project for Operating Assistance for the Section 5310 van at the Wilson Avenue 
clinic in Louisville, KY.  The project will provide transportation service in Jefferson County for 
seniors and individuals with disabilities to get to medical appointments at the Wilson Avenue 
clinic of the Park DuValle Community Health Center in Louisville, KY. 
(Federal funds = $3,000   Local match = $3,000 Total project value = $6,000)  
 
 
$300,504 to Transit Authority of River City for the Suburban Work Trips for Paratransit Customers 
Outside of the ADA Service Area Project for Operating Assistance to continue paratransit work 
trips for people with disabilities who either live outside the ADA service area or who work outside 
the ADA service area.  
(Federal funds = $300,504       Local match = $300,504          Total project value = $601,008)  
 
$196,800 to Ztrip for the Wheelchair Van Project to purchase three (3) ADA-accessible wheelchair 
Minivans to provide shared ride service as part of the existing TARC3 program. 
(Federal funds = $196,800        Local match = $49,200      Total project value = $246,000) 
 
(See summary in tables below.)  
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Summary of recommendations for funding: 
 

Section 5310 “Traditional” Funds  (dollars)   FFY 23 

Agency Project Federal 
Share 

Local 
Match Total 

Cedar Lake 
Residences 

Transportation of Individuals 
with Disabilities 122,400   30,600 153,000    

Dreams with 
Wings 

Dreams with Wings Fleet 
Expansion 125,200   31,300 156,500    

Harbor House of 
Louisville Breaking Down Barriers 198,693         49,673 248,366   

Lifespan 
Resources 

Lifespan Resources 
Transportation 197,473   49,368 246,841   

Park DuValle 
Community 
Health Center 

PDCHC Transportation 
Services Expansion 65,600 16,400 82,000    

Rauch, Inc. Transportation for Adults 
with Disabilities 15,200   3,800 19,000   

Volunteers of 
America Upward Mobility 65,600 16,400 82,000 

 
 

Section 5310 “Other” Funds  (dollars)   FFY 23  

Agency Project Federal 
Share 

Local 
Match Total 

Park DuValle 
Community 
Health Center 

PDCHC Transportation 
Services Expansion 3,000 3,000 6,000 

Transit Authority 
of River City 

Suburban Work Trips for 
Paratransit Customers 
Outside of the ADA Service 
Area 

300,504   300,504   601,008 

Ztrip Wheelchair Van 196,800          49,200       246,000    
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SINCE THE LAST BOARD 
MEETING …

HIGHLIGHTS

2

• TARC Executive Director Carrie 
Butler was inducted into the 
Kentucky Public Transportation 
Association Hall of Fame

• We partnered with PARC to 
promote TARC service to Bourbon 
& Beyond and Louder Than Life

• TARC launched an On Time 
Performance pilot intended to make 
the #23 Broadway – TARC’s 
highest ridership line – more 
reliable

• We met with the community and 
transit riders at the California 
Neighborhood Reunion, the 
Mayor’s Hike, Bike, and Paddle, 
and the September edition of 
CycLOUvia
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MONTHLY REPORT

• Performance Dashboard - to communicate operating performance in service delivery and utilization. 
Utilize standard measures used throughout the transit industry, setting goals and putting systems in place 
to achieve them.

• Continuous Improvement - identify areas for improvement and create action plans to demonstrate 
progress toward our goals.

• Success Outcomes - align with Strategic Plan Scorecard and TARC’S Primary Strategic Priorities.

Safety Customer 
Service Maintenance

Fixed Route TARC3 Ridership

INPUTS OUTCOMES



MAINTENANCE

* FTA allows a 10 percent deviation from the scheduled interval as being considered on time 
and 80 percent of the total inspections for any mode or operation is considered on time.

Coach Maintenance Plan Includes:

3,000 mile inspection:
• Road Test
• Check engine compartment
• Check under coach to include brake systems
• Check Interior-Exterior
• Lube under carriage

6,000 mile inspection:
• Change engine oil, engine fuel filter, and oil filters
• Perform 3,000 mile inspection

12,000 mile inspection
• Perform brake Tapley
• Perform 6,000 mile inspection

24,000 mile inspection
• Change engine air filter and change hydraulic oil filter 
• Perform 12,000 mile inspection

48,000 mile inspection
• Fluid change
• Inspect transmission
• Sample transmission fluid

96,000 mile inspection
• Transmission fluid and filter change
• Inspect transmission
• Sample transmission fluid

215
194

241

194
216 214

195
220
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50
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300

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG

Preventive Maintenance Inspections (PMI) 
Accomplished 2023

PMIs Accomplished 2023 Linear (PMIs Accomplished 2023)

Target PMI: 220
Total Vehicle PMIs: 220
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MAINTENANCE

MILES BETWEEN MECHANICAL FAILURES

A Mechanical Road Call occurs when mechanical problems prevent the revenue vehicle from completing a scheduled revenue trip, or from 
starting the next scheduled revenue trip because actual movement is limited, or because of safety concerns.

Miles Chargeable 
Road Calls

Miles Between Road 
Calls

Jan 647,430 134 4,832

Feb 595,858 130 4,584

Mar 678,987 142 4,782

Apr 614,176 129 4,798

May 623,666 124 5,029

June 606,540 143 4,242

July 594,791 133 4,472

Aug 634,015 132 4,803

August: Total Miles Between Road Calls = 4,803
Target Miles Between Road Calls = 5,000
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August 2023 Maintenance Road Calls 

Chargeable Road Calls 132 Non-Chargeable Road Calls 137

49%

July 2023 Maintenance Road Calls 

Chargeable Road Calls 133 Non-Chargeable Roads Calls 138

CHARGEABLE VS NON-CHARGEABLE ROAD CALLS

MAINTENANCE

Chargeable Categories
• Brakes
• Chassis & Doors
• Electrical System
• Engine 
• Fuel Systems
• HVAC
• Transmission
• Wheelchair Lift

Non-Chargeable Categories
• Farebox
• Radio
• Camera
• Tires
• Unit
• Main Cabin

51% 49% 51%
TOTAL 

271
TOTAL 

269



MAINTENANCE

ACTION PLAN
Items Status

Create additional recruitment efforts
1) Job postings
2) New hiring business card with QR code and contact information

Bus Deep Cleaning 118% of 176 operating coaches - 208/176

Bus Pest Control Cleaning
1) Fleet is treated at least three times a month 
2) Bus garage is cleaned on weekdays, trash cans and dumpsters emptied 
3) Communicating preventive measures

Covert alarm testing campaign

1) Assessment - Completed
2) System operational 
3) 17% require scheduled maintenance

(loose components, missing hardware, etc.)

Predictive Maintenance

1) Scheduling other campaigns, in progress
2) 11 new buses (on production line)
3) Fleet and facilities HVAC system inspections

7



SAFETY

Monthly 

SAFETY PREVENTABLE ACCIDENTS

8

YTD 

4 12

Monthly 

PREVENTABLE ACCIDENTS / 100K MILES

YTD 

.6 1.1

TYPE OF ACCIDENT

Stopped Vehicle 1    25%
Fixed Object 3    75%
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PASSENGER DISRUPTIONS BY 
LINE JAN THROUGH AUG

9

SAFETY

34

41

31

42

34

28

14

19

Jan Feb March April May June July Aug

Disruptions 2023

TOTAL PASSENGER DISRUPTIONS - JAN THROUGH AUG

Route ID Disruptions
Broadway - #23 53
Dixie Rapid - #10 24
Preston - #28 20
Fourth St - #4 20
Oak-Westport - #25 19
Dixie Hwy - #18 15
Chestnut St - #21 12
Muhammad Ali - #19 11
Shelbyville Rd - #31 10
Taylorsville Rd - #40 10
Bardstown - #17 10
Clarksville - #72 8
Sixth St - #6 7
J'ville-Lou-New Albany - #71 7
Market St - #15 6
Hill St - #27 6
Second St - #2 6
Eastern Pkwy - #29 5
Portland Popar Level - #43 5
Crums Lane - #63 4
Twelfth St - #12 3
Med Ctr - #52 1
Outer Loop - #46 1
Cardinal - #94 0

This Month Total

19

PASSENGER DISRUPTIONS

Monthly Avg

30.4



SAFETY

ACTION PLAN

Items Status

PTSAP – Public Transportation 
Safety Agency Plan

In progress – reviewing and updating this FTA-required plan 
regarding safety performance targets, risk reduction programs and 
other safety action plans

August Safety Campaign – Rear 
End Collisions

1) Completed– May, June, July – 30.3% of preventable accidents 
were rear-end collisions (8)  

2) 1-minute video discussing ways to prevent this type of collision: 
Aim High in Steering, Get the Big Picture (Smith System Keys), 
and distractions

3) Zero rear-end collisions in August

September Safety Highlight -
CDL/D.O.T. Physical Expirations

In progress - in TARC News and bright sign video reminding 
employees of their responsibility to ensure they have current D.O.T. 
required documentation and the process upon getting these 
documents renewed

10



Monthly

FIXED ROUTE 

AUGUST RIDERSHIP

11

YTD

574K 11.6% VLM
18.5% VLY 1058K

PARATRANSIT

COMBINED

Monthly YTD

31K
10.3% VLM
8.1% VLY 59K

This Month, Last Year This Month, This Year

543K 605K

Performance 
Indicator Fixed-Route System Paratransit (TARC3)

System Production FY24 YTD FY23 YTD FY22 YTD FY24 YTD FY23 YTD FY22 YTD

Total Ridership 1,058,280 5,882,660 5,016,283 58,702 330,793 299,412
Weekday Ridership 945,730 5,203,973 4,429,315 48,808 280,874 254,834
Saturday Ridership 58,387 382,620 325,458 4,520 25,040 22,640
Sunday Ridership 54,163 296,067 261,510 4,998 22,186 17,940

Total Revenue Miles 1,120,265 6,520,833 6,372,079 708,142 3,648,867 3,855,246

Total Revenue Hours 93,241 547,944 542,472 50,050 266,904 237,715

Trips per Revenue Mile 0.85 0.9 0.79 .08 0.09 0.08

Trips per Revenue Hour 10.19 10.74 9.25 1.17 1.24 1.26

484,322

573,958
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AUGUST ON-TIME PERFORMANCE

12

On-Time Performance
Fixed-Route Paratransit (TARC 3)

FY24 FY23 FY22 FY24 FY23 FY22
Jul 77% 82% 78% Jul 93% 90% 90%

Aug 75% 80% 76% Aug 92% 87% 85%
Sept 78% 74% Sep 88% 83%
Oct 77% 74% Oct 90% 82%
Nov 78% 76% Nov 92% 83%
Dec 79% 74% Dec 92% 86%
Jan 80% 78% Jan 91% 90%
Feb 79% 76% Feb 91% 90%
Mar 79% 75% Mar 91% 92%
Apr 78% 73% Apr 90% 94%
May 78% 73% May 92% 93%
June 79% 76% Jun 93% 92%
FYTD 75% 79% 75% FYTD 92.5% 91% 88%

Fixed-Route 
FY24 Goal 

80%

Paratransit 
FY24 Goal 

93%
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Fixed-Route On-Time Performance
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TARC3 Paratransit On-Time Performance
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AUGUST ON-TIME PERFORMANCE
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ON TIME PERFORMANCE

ACTION PLAN
Items Status

Late Garage Departures
1) Road Supervisors tracking daily Pull Out
2) Working to identify key factors and procedures to contribute to 

late garage departures          

Dwell Times
1) Investigating ways to minimize extended dwell time for 

passengers
2) Minimize operator/passenger confrontations

Schedule Adherence

1) Currently conducting a run time/schedule time analysis
2) Control Center Pilot launching September 25th
3) Boarding and Alighting Study – Section of Broadway using ride 

checkers

Fare Box Issues 1) Looking into better ways to manage fare loading
2)   Focusing on how to minimize service delays due to fare box 

malfunctions       

14



Monthly 

FIXED ROUTE 

15

YTD 

438 34% VLM
17% VLY 766

Monthly 

PARATRANSIT
YTD 

136 14%VLM
-41% VLY 255

Monthly 

COMPLAINTS / 1,000 RIDERS
YTD 

1 15% VLM
-10% VLY 1

CUSTOMER FEEDBACK
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FIXED ROUTE TOP 5 FEEDBACK CATEGORIES – AUGUST 2023

Pass Up, 61

No Show, 82Rude/ Unprofessional, 41

Late, 46

Insuff. 
Assistance, 25

Feedback Categories

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

Pass Up

No Show

Rude/ Unprofessional

Late

Insuff. Assistance

Pass Up No Show Rude/
Unprofessional Late Insuff.

Assistance
Jun-23 48 52 42 32 20
Jul-23 62 40 35 26 21
Aug-23 61 82 41 46 25

3 Month Comparison
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TARC3 TOP 5 FEEDBACK CATEGORIES – AUGUST 2023

No Show, 43

Insuff. 
Assistance, 14

Late PickUp, 19

Rude/ 
Unprofessional, 5

Booking Error, 8

Feedback Categories

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50

No Show

Insuff. Assistance

Late PickUp

Rude/ Unprofessional

Booking Error

No Show Insuff.
Assistance Late PickUp Rude/

Unprofessional Booking Error

Jun-23 30 19 13 10 8
Jul-23 33 14 15 11 9
Aug-23 43 14 19 5 8

3 Month Comparison



ACTION PLAN

CUSTOMER FEEDBACK 

18

Items Status

Customer Feedback Work 
Instructions

Modifying existing feedback intake procedures to improve customer 
experience

Develop Customer Feedback 
Benchmark Goal

Researching Customer Feedback goals of similar sized agencies 
for comparison purposes

Customer Education Begin capturing and quantifying opportunities of customer 
education

ACTION PLAN



TARC3 (PARATRANSIT) OPERATOR STAFFING

19

Operator Counts

• MV Transportation: 37
• zTrip: 55
• Alpha Medical: 15
• Choice Medical: 20
• Diversity Medical: 4
• Transport Care: 15
• SilverRide: 19

Total Network Headcount to Date: 165 (+59% from January 2022)

Recruiting Report

• Candidate outreach (Total contacts): 4
• Phone screens from outreach (Total): 4
• Office appointments/Interviews scheduled: 7
• Interviews conducted: 7
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% Missed Trips (after reconciliation)

August 2023 Missed Trips: 0.83%

30,793 Performed Trips

MV WEEKLY PERFORMANCE
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Monthly 

PARATRANSIT 

MV LIQUIDATED DAMAGES  

21

YTD 

$22.9K +26% VLM
-80% VLY $41.1K -80% VLY

Monthly Details
$13.9K (61%), Late Trip, > 30 mins late

$6.5K (22%), Missed Trips

$3K (13%), On Time Performance

Types of Penalties:
Missed Trip

Late Trip

On-Time Performance

Excessive Trip Length

Customer Complaints

Compromised Safety

Maintenance
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PARATRANSIT 
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ACTION PLAN

Items Status

Customer Experience
1) Mystery Rider Services solicitation
2) Dates set for remainder of year for collaborative training with 

the Center for Accessible Living          

Quality Assurance
1) Finalizing auditing system of main contractor and 

subcontractors

Operator Compliance
1) Trail checks of routes are being conducted
2) Real time app for Road Supervisors is still in development 

stage
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September 26, 2023

SEPTEMBER BOARD OF DIRECTORS UPDATE



                                      
    TARC Board of Directors 
    Financial Summary       
    June 2023, Fiscal Year 2023 
         
    

Current Month Revenues Compared to Budget 
 
Total Operating Revenues are over budget $62,434 (pg. 2, line 9) due to all revenues being 
over budget for the month except Passenger Fares and Total Recoveries-Insurance. Total 
Non-Operating Revenues (Subsidies) are under budget $1,086,748 (pg. 2, line 16) mainly 
due to applying less Federal Reimbursement Funds-FTA due to Operating Expenses being 
under budget and Operating Revenues being over budget. Total Capital Contributions are 
under budget $9,098,473 (pg. 2, line 25) mainly due to Security Enhancements, Bus 
Charging Infrastructure, Facility Rehab & Info System projects being under compared to 
budget.  Total Revenues with Capital are under budget $10,122,787 (pg. 2, line 27) as 
mentioned in the above. 

 
Current Month Expenses Compared to Budget 
 
Total Operating Expenses are under budget $1,024,312 (pg. 2, line 41) due to all expenses  
being under budget for the month except Fringes & Benefits and Utilities. Total Capital 
expenses are under budget $485,632 (pg. 2, line 48) compared to budget. Total Expenses 
with Capital are under budget $1,509,944 (pg. 2, line 50) due to Operating Expenses and 
Capital Expenses being under budget. 
 
Current Month Actual Summary 
 
Total Operating Revenues are $726,903 (pg. 2, line 9) and Total Operating Expenses are 
$7,869,254 (pg. 2, line 41) bringing the net to an unfavorable balance of $7,142,351 before 
Subsidies are applied. After applying Subsidies $7,142,351 (pg. 2, line 16) the net is balanced 
for the current month before Capital Contributions and Capital Expenses are applied. 
 
YTD Revenues Compared to Budget 

 
Total Operating Revenues are over budget $1,130,990 (pg. 2 line 9) due to all Operating 
Revenues being over budget. Total Non-Operating Revenues (Subsidies) are under budget 
$8,640,035 (pg. 2, line 16) mainly due to applying less Federal Reimbursement Funds-FTA 
due to Operating Expenses being under budget and Operating Revenues being over budget. 
Total Capital Contributions are under budget $22,900,753 (pg. 2, line 25) mainly due to 
Security Enhancements, Bus Charging Infrastructure, Facility Rehab & Info System projects 
being under compared to budget. Total Revenues with Capital are under budget $30,409,799 
(pg. 2, line 27) due to applying less Subsidies due to expenses being under budget and 
Capital Contributions being under compared to budget. 

 
YTD Expenses Compared to Budget 
 
Total Operating Expenses are under budget $7,509,042 (pg. 2, line 41) mainly due to all 
expenses being under budget except Direct Labor and Utilities. Total Capital Expenses are 
under budget $1,064,118 



 (pg. 2, line 48) compared to budget. Total Expenses with Capital are under budget 
$8,573,160 (pg. 2, line 50) due to Operating Expenses & Capital Expenses being under 
budget.   

 
 
 

 
   
YTD Actual Summary 
 
Total Operating Revenues are $8,885,967 (pg. 2, line 9) and Total Operating Expenses are 
$95,436,880 (pg. 2, line 41) bringing the net to an unfavorable balance of $86,550,913 before 
Subsidies are applied. After applying Subsidies of $86,550,912 (pg. 2, line 16) the net is a $1 
unfavorable balance (pg. 2, line 53) for year-to-date before Capital Contributions and Capital 
Expenses are applied. This can also be seen on page 8 in your Financial Statement packet. 
 
Operating Summary 
 
Overall after applying the Subsidies the unfavorable balance for the year-to-date on the 
Statement of Revenues – Expenses is $1 (pg.2, line 53) before applying the MTTF Revenue 
receipts. June MTTF receipts for revenue deposits is over budget $3,418,372 (pg.7) year-to-
date. We currently have a favorable balance before capital year-to-date of $3,418,368 (pg. 
8) due to the MTTF revenue deposits being over budget. MTTF Net Profit Fees are under 
$3,795,585 (pg. 7) and Employee Withholdings are over $3,527,906 (pg. 7) year-to-date 
compared to last year. 
 



Budget By Object Class FY22 FY23 FY23 FY23 EXHIBIT  1
7/21/2023 ACTUAL BUDGET ESTIMATE Actual

Beginning  MTTF Balance $27,844,858 $40,661,948 $46,436,662 $46,436,662
                    

FY 23 Actual FY 23 Actual FY 23 Actual
Operating Revenues vs FY 23 Bud vs FY 23 Bud vs FY 23 Est

Farebox $5,252,949 $5,305,786 $5,705,790 $5,927,630 11.72% $621,844 $221,840
Special Fares $1,553,207 $1,535,891 $1,535,890 $1,626,012 5.87% $90,121 $90,122
Charter $0 $0 $0 $0 0.00% $0 $0
Advertising $644,167 $650,000 $650,000 $650,000 0.00% $0 $0
Other Agency Revenues $205,548 $213,300 $363,300 $569,206 166.86% $355,906 $205,906
Total Recoveries - Insurance $206,697 $50,000 $80,000 $113,119 126.24% $63,119 $33,119
MTTF Collections $71,103,336 $67,612,995 $67,612,995 $71,324,309 5.49% $3,711,314 $3,711,314
MTTF Interest $59,893 $5,040 $890,000 $1,520,993 30078.43% $1,515,953 $630,993
State Government Funds $3,988,108 $1,276,642 $1,276,642 $1,732,947 35.74% $456,305 $456,305
Federal Reimb. Funds-Access To Jobs $263,637 $384,500 $454,060 $494,869 28.70% $110,369 $40,809
MTTF Principal ($18,591,804) $0 $0 ($10,105,251) ($10,105,251) ($10,105,251)

Total Revenues $64,685,738 $77,034,155 $78,568,677 $73,853,835 -4.13% ($3,180,320) ($4,714,842)

Operating Expenses

Direct Labor $30,701,505 $31,366,902 $33,876,433 $32,534,202 3.72% $1,167,300 ($1,342,231)
Fringe Benefits:
Vac/Hol/Sick/Bday $4,156,887 $5,112,195 $5,149,320 $4,721,573 -7.64% ($390,622) ($427,747)
Health/Welfare/Pension $24,731,909 $26,397,927 $26,987,840 $25,752,374 -2.45% ($645,553) ($1,235,466)
Services $5,705,776 $6,713,100 $6,360,240 $5,618,683 -16.30% ($1,094,417) ($741,557)
Material & Supplies $6,370,931 $7,440,936 $7,133,580 $6,587,012 -11.48% ($853,924) ($546,568)
Utilities $1,035,703 $1,035,600 $1,119,000 $1,079,278 4.22% $43,678 ($39,722)
Casualty&Liability $2,928,897 $3,413,070 $3,495,720 $2,586,613 -24.21% ($826,457) ($909,107)
Purchased Transportation $13,264,507 $20,541,764 $17,552,766 $16,130,617 -21.47% ($4,411,147) ($1,422,149)
Interest Expense $7,858 $2,660 $2,660 $2,220 -16.54% ($440) ($440)
Other Expense $467,683 $921,770 $815,320 $424,308 -53.97% ($497,462) ($391,012)

Total Operating Expense $89,371,657 $102,945,924 $102,492,879 $95,436,880 -7.29% ($7,509,044) ($7,055,999)

Capital Eligible Expense Reimbursement ($5,988,819) ($8,433,400) ($4,107,192) ($2,971,879) -64.76% $5,461,521 $1,135,313
CARES Act Funding ($11,087,177) $0 $0 $0 0.00% $0 $0
CRRSAA Funding ($9,315,786) ($4,896,014) ($12,058,902) ($12,058,902) 146.30% ($7,162,888) $0
ARP $0 ($20,504,079) ($10,781,182) ($9,596,003) -53.20% $10,908,076 $1,185,179

SUBTOTAL ($26,391,782) ($33,833,493) ($26,947,276) ($24,626,784) -27.21% $9,206,709 $2,320,492

Net Operating Expense $62,979,875 $69,112,431 $75,545,603 $70,810,096 2.46% $1,697,665 ($4,735,507)
MTTF Capital Share $1,705,863 $7,921,724 $3,023,074 $3,043,739 -61.58% ($4,877,985) $20,665

Total Operating/Capital $64,685,738 $77,034,155 $78,568,677 $73,853,835 -4.13% ($3,180,320) ($4,714,842)

Ending MTTF Balance $46,436,662 $40,661,948 $46,436,662 $56,541,913 $15,879,965 $10,105,251



                                      
    TARC Board of Directors 
    Financial Summary       
    July 2023, Fiscal Year 2024      
   
    

Current Month Revenues Compared to Budget 
 
Total Operating Revenues are over budget $54,033 (pg. 2, line 9) mainly due to Passenger 
Fares, Other Agency Revenues and Insurance Recoveries being over budget. Total Non-
Operating Revenues (Subsidies) are under budget $337,727 (pg. 2, line16) mainly due to 
applying less Federal Reimbursement Funds-FTA due to operating expenses being under 
budget. Total Capital Contributions are under budget $657,371 (pg. 2, line 25) due to timing 
of Facility rehab, Infotech, Mobile ticketing and A & E service projects. Total Revenues with 
Capital are under budget $941,065 (pg. 2, line27) mainly due to expenses being under and 
applying less COVID relief funds. 

 
Current Month Expenses Compared to Budget 
 
Total Operating Expenses are under budget $283,694 (pg. 2, line 41) mainly due to Services, 
Materials and Purchased Transportation being under budget. Total Capital Expenses are 
over budget $81,836 due to deprecation expenses on assets purchased after January (pg. 
2, line 48) compared to budget. Total Expenses with Capital are under budget $201,858 (pg. 
2, line 50) due to Operating Expenses being under Budget.  
 
Current Month Actual Summary 
 
Total Operating Revenues are $754,382 (pg. 2, line 9) and Total Operating Expenses are 
$8,132,933 (pg. 2, line 41) bringing the net to an unfavorable balance to $7,378,551 before 
Subsidies are applied. After applying Subsidies in the amount of $7,378,551 (pg. 2, line 16) 
the current month is balanced before Capital Contributions and Capital Expenses are applied. 
This can also be seen on page 8 in your Financial Statement packet. 

 
Operating Summary 
 
Overall after applying the Subsidies the unfavorable balance for the year-to-date on the 
Statement of Revenues – Expenses is balanced before applying the MTTF Revenue receipts. 
July’s budgeted MTTF receipts for revenue deposits is over budget $940,092 (pg. 7). TARC 
currently has a favorable balance before capital year-to-date of $940,092 (pg. 8) due to the 
MTTF revenue deposits being over budget. MTTF Net Profit fees are up $6,090 (pg. 7) and 
Employee Withholdings are up $907,790 (pg. 7) year to date compared to last year. 



page  2Statement of Revenue - Expenses - with Capital Contributions

July 2023, Fiscal Year 2024

FY24 Over budget Over budget Percentage
Description Total Budget Actual Budget (Under budget) Actual Budget (Under budget) Remaining

Revenues

1 Passenger Fares 4,859,906 418,698 405,850 12,848 418,698 405,850 12,848 91.38%
2 Paratransit Fares 960,000 74,658 80,000 (5,342) 74,658 80,000 (5,342) 92.22%
3 Special Fare Revenues (UofL, UPS and etc) 1,535,890 123,342 125,890 (2,548) 123,342 125,890 (2,548) 91.97%
4 Comp Specials 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
5 Advertising Revenue 650,000 54,167 54,167 0 54,167 54,167 0 91.67%
6 Other Agency Revenues 363,300 47,720 30,275 17,445 47,720 30,275 17,445 86.86%
7 Total Recoveries-Insurance 50,000 35,797 4,167 31,630 35,797 4,167 31,630 28.41%
8
9 Operating Revenues 8,419,096 754,382 700,349 54,033 754,382 700,349 54,033 91.04%

10
11 MTTF Contributions- Federated 62,616,384 4,071,246 4,071,246 0 4,071,246 4,071,246 0 93.50%
12 Local Government Funds - MTTF 1,261,975 577 84,115 (83,538) 577 84,115 (83,538) 99.95%
13 Federal Reimbursement Funds - FTA 36,651,990 3,306,728 3,544,792 (238,064) 3,306,728 3,544,792 (238,064) 90.98%
14 State Government Funds 1,276,642 0 16,125 (16,125) 0 16,125 (16,125) 100.00%
15
16 Total Non-Operating Revenues 101,806,991 7,378,551 7,716,278 (337,727) 7,378,551 7,716,278 (337,727) 92.75%
17
18 Total Revenues Before Cap Contributions 110,226,087 8,132,933 8,416,627 (283,694) 8,132,933 8,416,627 (283,694) 92.62%
19
20 Local Government Funds - MTTF, Cap 6,384,870 0 131,474 (131,474) 0 131,474 (131,474) 100.00%
21 Federal Reimbursement Funds - FTA, Cap 25,816,643 0 525,897 (525,897) 0 525,897 (525,897) 100.00%
22 State Goverenment Funds, Cap 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
23 Other Agencies Revenue, Cap 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
24
25 Total Capital Contributions 32,201,513 0 657,371 (657,371) 0 657,371 (657,371) 100.00%
26
27 Total Revenues 142,427,600 8,132,933 9,073,998 (941,065) 8,132,933 9,073,998 (941,065) 94.29%
28
29
30 Expenses
31
32 Labor 33,240,842 2,786,920 2,566,173 220,747 2,786,920 2,566,173 220,747 91.62%
33 Fringes & Benefits 30,712,129 2,516,900 2,399,465 117,435 2,516,900 2,399,465 117,435 91.80%
34 Services 7,737,546 454,173 662,600 (208,427) 454,173 662,600 (208,427) 94.13%
35 Materials 9,035,040 550,219 653,570 (103,351) 550,219 653,570 (103,351) 93.91%
36 Utilities 1,205,000 86,724 100,417 (13,693) 86,724 100,417 (13,693) 92.80%
37 Casualty & Liability 3,827,100 259,716 318,926 (59,210) 259,716 318,926 (59,210) 93.21%
38 Purchased Transportation 23,507,410 1,457,572 1,639,518 (181,946) 1,457,572 1,639,518 (181,946) 93.80%
39 Interest Expense 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 #DIV/0!
40 Other Expenses 961,020 20,709 75,958 (55,249) 20,709 75,958 (55,249) 97.85%
41 Operating Expenses 110,226,087 8,132,933 8,416,627 (283,694) 8,132,933 8,416,627 (283,694) 92.62%
42
43
44
45 Development Cost & Loss on Disposal 2,083,268 0 4,341 (4,341) 0 4,341 (4,341) 100.00%
46 Depreciation Expenses 12,579,047 1,008,989 922,812 86,177 1,008,989 922,812 86,177 91.98%
47 Loss on Disposal of Assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
48 Total Capital Expenses 14,662,315 1,008,989 927,153 81,836 1,008,989 927,153 81,836 93.12%
49
50 Total  Expenses 124,888,402 9,141,922 9,343,780 (201,858) 9,141,922 9,343,780 (201,858) 92.68%
51
52
53 Revenue / Expense Difference Before Capital 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%
54
55 Revenue / Expense Difference After Capital 17,539,198 (1,008,989) (269,782) (739,207) (1,008,989) (269,782) (739,207) 105.75%

Fiscal Year-to-dateCurrent Month
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Total Labor

July 2023, Fiscal Year 2024

FY24 Over budget Over budget Percentage
Description Total Budget Actual Budget (Under budget) Actual Budget (Under budget) Remaining

1 Direct Labor 33,240,842 2,786,920 2,566,173 220,747 2,786,920 2,566,173 220,747 91.62%
2 Sick Leave 1,761,580 77,662 116,121 (38,459) 77,662 116,121 (38,459) 95.59%
3 Holiday 1,428,538 119,497 137,488 (17,991) 119,497 137,488 (17,991) 91.64%
4 Vacation 2,236,350 179,424 175,381 4,043 179,424 175,381 4,043 91.98%
5 Other Paid Absences 238,442 19,755 15,520 4,235 19,755 15,520 4,235 91.71%
6
7 Total 38,905,752 3,183,258 3,010,683 172,575 3,183,258 3,010,683 172,575 91.82%
8
9 Difference compared to Budget 172,575 172,575

FY24 Over budget Over budget Percentage
Description Total Budget Actual Budget (Under budget) Actual Budget (Under budget) Remaining

10 FICA 2,976,282 239,298 230,315 8,983 239,298 230,315 8,983 91.96%
11 Pension 9,323,000 670,584 702,693 (32,109) 670,584 702,693 (32,109) 92.81%
12 Hospital Medical & Surgical 9,228,084 684,137 744,200 (60,063) 684,137 744,200 (60,063) 92.59%
13 Vision Care Insurance 85,741 5,250 7,153 (1,903) 5,250 7,153 (1,903) 93.88%
14 Dental Plans 345,120 28,009 28,760 (751) 28,009 28,760 (751) 91.88%
15 Life Insurance 46,536 18,993 3,878 15,115 18,993 3,878 15,115 59.19%
16 Disability Insurance 154,956 11,987 12,913 (926) 11,987 12,913 (926) 92.26%
17 Kentucky Unemployment 40,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 100.00%
18 Worker's Compensation 2,500,000 461,777 208,334 253,443 461,777 208,334 253,443 81.53%
19 Uniform  & Work Clothing Allowance 345,000 0 16,500 (16,500) 0 16,500 (16,500) 100.00%
20 Other Fringes 2,500 525 209 316 525 209 316 79.00%
21 Total Fringe & Benefits 25,047,219 2,120,562 1,954,955 165,605 2,120,560 1,954,955 165,605 91.53%
22
23 0
24 Sick Leave 1,761,580 77,662 116,121 (38,459) 77,662 116,121 (38,459) 95.59%
25 Holiday 1,428,538 119,497 137,488 (17,991) 119,497 137,488 (17,991) 91.64%
26 Vacation 2,236,350 179,424 175,381 4,043 179,424 175,381 4,043 91.98%
27 Other Paid Absences 238,442 19,755 15,520 4,235 19,755 15,520 4,235 91.71%
28 Total Compensation Benefits 5,664,910 396,338 444,510 (48,172) 396,338 444,510 (48,172) 93.00%
29
30 Total 30,712,129 2,516,900       2,399,465       117,433 2,516,898       2,399,465       117,433             91.80%
31
32 Difference compared to Budget 117,435          117,433          

Current Month Fiscal Year-to-date

Year to DateCurrent Month
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Balance Sheet

July 2023, Fiscal Year 2024

Assets FY 24 FY 23 Liabilities, Reserves & Capital FY 24 FY 23

Current Assets Current Liabilites

Cash & Cash Items 4,441,535 2,613,720 Long Term Debt 0 0
Short Term Investments 3,163,544 7,039,932 Short Term Debt 0 0
Accounts Recievable 103,577,067 101,073,155 Trade Payables 6,321,928 6,398,304
Interest Recievable 0 84 Accrued Payroll Liabilities 4,477,591 4,118,543
Due From Grant 80,000 80,000 Estimated Workmans Compensation 4,934,590 3,687,123
Materials & Supplies 2,305,239 1,828,649 Accrued Tax Liabilities 0 0

Unreedemed Tickets & Tokens 1,658,500 1,600,352
Total Current Assets 113,567,385 112,635,540 Reserves - Injury & Damages 1,207,200 1,387,800

Due To Operations 80,000 80,000
Other Assets Unearned Capital Contributions 93,859,254 95,106,792

Other Current Liabilities (Health Ins.) 4,080,801 3,330,810
Prepaid Insurance & Dues & WIP 2,106,948 1,964,114 ------------------- -------------------

------------------- ------------------- Total Current Liabilities 116,619,864 115,709,724
Total Other Assets 2,106,948 1,964,114

Fixed Assets
Equity

Land 3,187,624 3,187,624
Buildings 50,696,335 49,486,992 Retained Earnings (1,008,989) (939,251)
Coaches 134,464,734 129,428,769 Prior Year Retained Earning 78,793,717 78,980,037
Office Equipment 10,804,524 10,490,023 ------------------- -------------------
Other Equipment 20,914,669 22,429,980 Total Equity 77,784,728 78,040,786
Development Costs 0 148,408 ------------------- -------------------
Vehicle Exp - Operating 1,420,405 1,420,405 Total Liabilities & Equity 194,404,592 193,750,510
Other Equipment -Operating 184,903 189,242 ============ ============

------------------- -------------------
Total Fixed Assets 221,673,194 216,781,442

Less Accumulated Depreciation
Accumulated Depr Land 787,367 753,428                 
Accumulated Depr Buildings 30,280,140 28,773,645            
Accumulated Depr Coaches 85,070,170 79,362,834            
Accumulated Depr Office Equipment 9,333,199 8,896,085              
Accumulated Depr Other Equipment 16,310,981 18,710,547            
Accumulated Depr Development Cost 0 12,367                   
Accumulated Depr Vehicle Exp - Opr 1,041,554 985,427                 
Accumulated Depr Other Equipment Op 149,524 136,252                 

------------------- -------------------
Total Depreciation 142,972,934 137,630,586

------------------- -------------------
Net Fixed Assets 78,700,260 79,150,856

------------------- -------------------
Total Assets 194,374,593 193,750,510

============ ============
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Actual Revenue vs. Budget 

July 2023, Fiscal Year 2024

Current Month Revenues

MTTF  $4,071,246 Actual = $4,071,246 Budget

Passenger fares $12,848

Paratransit fares $5,342

Federal Reimbursement Funds - FTA $238,064

Federal Reimbursement Funds - FTA, Cap $525,897

CM
* Passenger Fares are over budget $64,252

* Paratransit Fares are under budget $2,205

* Federal Reimbursement Funds - FTA is under budget $238,064 mainly due to operating expenses being under budget

* Federal Reimbursement Funds - FTA, Cap is under budget $358,321 due to timing of Facility Rehab, Infotech,
 Mobile Ticketing and A&E Service projects
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4,167 

30,275 

54,167 
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 Federal Reimbursement Funds - FTA
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Actual Expenses vs. Budget 

July 2023, Fiscal Year 2024

Current Month Expenses

Direct Labor $200,747 Total Labor $ 172,575

Fringe & Benefits $117,475

Services $208,427

Purchased Transportation $181,946

CM
* Direct Labor is over budget $200,747 and Total Labor is over budget $172,575

* Fringe & Benefits are over budget $117,475 due to Worker's Compensation being over budget

* Services are under budget $208,427 mainly due to Adverising,  IT computer/outside services, Safety's legal/outside services, and Executive outside services  

* Purchased Transportation is under budget $181,946 mainly due fuel and mobility service

0 

0 

4,341 

75,958 

100,417 

318,926 

662,600 

653,570 

922,812 

1,639,518 

2,399,465 

2,566,173 

0 

0 

0 

20,709 

86,724 

259,716 

454,173 

550,219 

1,008,989 

1,457,572 

2,516,900 

2,786,920 

Loss on Disposal of Assets

Interest Expense

Development Cost & Loss on Disposal

Other Expense

Utilities

Casualty & Liability

Services

Materials

 Depreciation Expenses

Purchased Transportation

Fringe & Benefits

 Direct Labor

Actual Budget
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MassTransit Trust Fund (MTTF) Revenue Deposits

Deposit to Budget Difference FY 2024

FY 24 FY 24
Month Actual Deposits Budget Deposits Difference YTD Total Current Month YTD

July $5,772,993 $4,832,901 $940,092 $940,092 19.45%
August $5,053,662 ($5,053,662) ($4,113,570) -100.00% -41.61%
September $5,225,029 ($5,225,029) ($9,338,599) -100.00% -61.80%
October $3,508,717 ($3,508,717) ($12,847,316) -100.00% -69.00%
November $4,473,572 ($4,473,572) ($17,320,888) -100.00% -75.00%
December $6,400,979 ($6,400,979) ($23,721,867) -100.00% -80.43%
January $6,329,856 ($6,329,856) ($30,051,723) -100.00% -83.89%
February $4,578,304 ($4,578,304) ($34,630,027) -100.00% -85.71%
March $5,839,108 ($5,839,108) ($40,469,135) -100.00% -87.52%
April $11,523,802 ($11,523,802) ($51,992,937) -100.00% -90.01%
May $5,215,370 ($5,215,370) ($57,208,307) -100.00% -90.83%
June $6,660,085 ($6,660,085) ($63,868,392) -100.00% -91.71%

TOTAL $5,772,993 $69,641,385

MTTF Revenue Deposits - Actuals
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Year to Date Summary

July 2023, Fiscal Year 2024

Good In the Red
Total Revenues are Over/Under by (pg. 2, line 18) $283,694

Total Expenses are Over/Under by (pg. 2, line 41) $283,694

MTTF Revenue Deposits are Over/Under by (pg. 7) $940,092

July has an favorable balance before Capital of $1,223,786 $283,694 $940,092

Revenues over Expenses

Operating Revenues $754,382
Operating Expenses $8,132,933

Net Gain/(Loss) before MTTF ($7,378,551)

MTTF  Approved Contributions $4,071,246
Net Gain/(Loss) before Subsidies ($3,307,305)

Subsidies

ARP $3,304,421
5307 Federal Formula dollars to be used as (CEER) $2,307
MTTF Local Share $577

State Contributions $0

Total  Subsidies $3,307,305

Net Gain/(Loss) before Capital $0
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Delta
TARC Actual YTD Actual YTD Remaining Budget YTD Actual FY 2024
Share FY 2023 FY 2024 Balance FY 2024  vs Budget FY 2024

ARP*** $48,293,376 $9,596,003 $3,304,421 $35,392,952 $28,695,496 ($25,391,075)

Total $48,293,376 $9,596,003 $3,304,421 $35,392,952 $28,695,496 ($25,391,075)

*** KY-2022-003 was approved/Executed 5/24/2022 end of FY 2022

Reimbursement Funds Only and a One Time Funding Source


	September 26 2023 Board of Directors Meeting Agenda
	August 2023 Board of Directors Meeting Minutes Final
	Resolution 2023 - 23 TARC Audited Financial Statements for Fiscal Year 2023 draft
	To:
	From:
	Date:
	Re:

	Resolution 2023 - 24 Award of Section 5310
	Memorandum

	Operations Board Report September
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20
	Slide Number 21
	Slide Number 22
	Slide Number 23

	FINSUMMARY July 2023 FY 24
	Current Month Revenues Compared to Budget
	Total Operating Revenues are over budget $54,033 (pg. 2, line 9) mainly due to Passenger Fares, Other Agency Revenues and Insurance Recoveries being over budget. Total Non-Operating Revenues (Subsidies) are under budget $337,727 (pg. 2, line16) mainly...

	Current Month Expenses Compared to Budget

	Financials July FY 2023
	S & R & E - Capital
	Labor & Fringes
	Balance_Sheet
	Revenues
	Expenses
	MTTF 
	YTD Balance
	Stimulus balances

	TARC Draft 9-19-23x.pdf
	Financial Statements
	Federal Awards


	ADP8F7E.tmp
	To:
	From:
	Date:
	Re:

	ADP2BC6.tmp
	Current Month Revenues Compared to Budget
	Total Operating Revenues are over budget $62,434 (pg. 2, line 9) due to all revenues being over budget for the month except Passenger Fares and Total Recoveries-Insurance. Total Non-Operating Revenues (Subsidies) are under budget $1,086,748 (pg. 2, li...

	Current Month Expenses Compared to Budget
	YTD Revenues Compared to Budget
	Total Operating Revenues are over budget $1,130,990 (pg. 2 line 9) due to all Operating Revenues being over budget. Total Non-Operating Revenues (Subsidies) are under budget $8,640,035 (pg. 2, line 16) mainly due to applying less Federal Reimbursement...

	YTD Expenses Compared to Budget

	ADPBF8C.tmp
	BY OBJ CLASS FY 23




